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Our shareholders rely on us to deliver attractive
long-term returns through the consistent application
of proven, customer-focused growth strategies:

Our customers rely on our broad capabilities, automation
technologies and advanced manufacturing skills to
deliver:

• Continuously advance our industry-leading automation

• Industry-leading, fully-integrated, single source automated

technology, capabilities and knowledge

manufacturing and test solutions that overcome unique
production challenges for increasingly complex and often

• Target expanding global manufacturers in attractive, diverse

miniaturized components

high-growth markets

• Maximum value through innovative automation technologies

• Become a larger value-adding extension of our customers’

that speed delivery, reduce total cost of ownership, enhance

engineering and manufacturing resources

performance and reliability
• Respond to customers’ global business needs with full-service
• Faster time-to-market for their new products

capabilities, training and support

• Cost-effective outsourcing of precision component, subassembly

• Identify high-growth market segments, anticipate customer

and contract equipment manufacturing supply

needs in these segments, and then strategically and forcefully
market our solutions in these areas

• Rapid and reliable expansion and service of their global
production

• Lever internal automation and manufacturing knowledge to
secure high-growth rates in complementary markets such as

• Reliability and stability reflected by productive capacity,

solar energy, thermal management and contract equipment build
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Financial Highlights

(TABULAR DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

2002 (2)

2003

years ended March 31

2001 (2)

Financial Results
Revenue

$

584,321

$

549,547

$

678,972

Earnings from operations

$

11,444

$

19,607

$

73,946

Net earnings(1)

$

2,343

$

12,593

$

42,957

$

0.04

$

0.21

$

0.73

$

0.04

$

0.21

$

0.72

Cash and short-term investments

$

82,333

$

113,281

$

72,949

Total assets

$

713,868

$

713,192

$

708,630

Shareholders’ equity

$

547,158

$

545,701

$

522,624

Per Share
Earnings per share – basic(1)
(1)

Earnings per share – diluted
Financial Positions

Debt to equity ratio

0.09:1

0.10:1

0.11:1

(1) Fiscal 2003 includes a $5.6 million after tax non-cash charge ($0.09 per share basic and diluted) for impairment in value of certain assets (see note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements)
(2) Certain amounts for fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001 years have been restated to reflect the adoption of new CICA Recommendations

Consolidated Revenue
by Industry

Net Earnings

Cash Flow from Operations

Employee Skill Sets

(by fiscal year, millions $)

(by fiscal year, millions $)

(at March 31, 2003)
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Fellow Shareholders:
ATS marks two important milestones in 2003. It was

platform, a low-cost machine vision product, a micro-

25 years ago that our business was founded and

machining laser system, new software modules to

10 years since we became a public company. Much has

monitor and track manufacturing productivity and

changed. From a single location in Kitchener, Ontario

quality in real time, and a family of tools aimed at

offering special purpose built automated machines,

lean manufacturing applications. These industry-leading

ATS has grown to become the leader in industrial

software and hardware tools are used by ATS as building

automation with 26 facilities in eight countries and

blocks within a complete automation system. Solutions

more than 10,000 successful installations.

like these, as well as our proven high-speed Supertrak™

Today, we are the most capable, most skilled and most

conveyance systems, Superbot™, and pick and place

financially sound company in our industry with 3,500

robotics technology, are further differentiating ATS from

dedicated employees, three business groups, and a

competitors. Of equal importance, they are allowing us

10+ year track record of profitability through good times

to design and assemble unique automation solutions

and bad. On revenue of $584.3 million and net earnings

more quickly and efficiently, and adding substantial value

of $2.3 million, this track record was sustained in fiscal

for money for both our customers and our Company.

2003 despite the deep, widespread and prolonged

Fiscal 2003 was also noteworthy for other developments

downturn in capital equipment spending.

as we:

The single greatest advancement in our Company has

• identified and broadened our presence in automation

been our growing ability to serve the needs of

market segments we believe offer the best potential

customers around the world in different industries and

for sustained growth

bring those customers back continuously for additional

• established our Precision Components Group as an

orders. Through relentless innovation and strategic

important player in the thermal management device

investment in our knowledge base, ATS delivers total

market serving the needs of large desktop and

customer solutions that save money and add significant

computer server manufacturers

value in rapidly growing areas of the healthcare,

• acquired two businesses and purchased the remaining

automotive, computer-electronics, semiconductor and

equity interest in ATS Test Systems. Each of these

consumer products industries. The true reflection of this

acquisitions added automation systems or precision

value is in the fact that over the past five years, some

components capabilities that are in demand

80% of our revenue has come from repeat customers.

• successfully advanced our revolutionary next-generation

These customers give us a solid and sustainable base

solar technology initiative, Spheral Solar™ Power (SSP),

of business, and a bright future.

by building initial samples of the world’s largest format
crystalline solar cell

Important Developments

ATS made considerable progress and remained

Fiscal 2003 was a pivotal year for ATS, during which we

profitable in the face of a difficult economic environment

again added to our industry leadership.

in fiscal 2003 by levering our new and proven

Most notably, ATS gained substantial market share by

capabilities to secure new assignments.

increasing the value of our turn-key automation

We kept our valuable, skilled workforce intact. Although

solutions, in part through the development and

this moderated our short-term profitability, this decision

integration of new automation technologies. In fiscal

allowed us to use our team’s knowledge and experience

2003 we launched a new flexible motion control

strategically to extend our competitive advantages,

ATS 2003 / 2
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improve our knowledge and implement programs that
will drive cost efficiencies now and in the future.
Our reputation as a stable employer is a valuable
distinguishing feature for ATS as customers critically
assess the strength of would-be suppliers on criteria
such as corporate sustainability and capacity to innovate
and deliver. A stable workforce has enabled us to
enhance our standing with customers, create important
new tools and capabilities and take away market share
from competitors who implemented harsh downsizings.
By retaining our skilled workforce, ATS will be able to
respond more rapidly and profitably to a market upturn
and secure even more long-term benefits as we
demonstrate our ability to respond to urgent customer
orders with innovative solutions.

Klaus D. Woerner
President and Chief Executive Officer

Lawrence G. Tapp
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board

Straight Forward: A New Agenda
ATS is a forward-looking company, always striving to

our customer base, we have substantially strengthened

anticipate and meet customer needs. While we have

our sales force. We are also using our specialized

achieved much, we aspire to do more, and enter fiscal

capabilities to expand contract equipment build

2004 with a straight-forward six-part growth plan.

assignments. These are ongoing assignments for major

1. Maximize the value of recent market share gains and

companies that wish to design their own specialized

capitalize on our industry leadership. Market share

manufacturing equipment and contract with ATS to

gains in the past two years have given us traction with

provide value-added build, assemble, test and install.

many important new accounts. Through innovative

3. Continue to penetrate new markets for automation and

promotional campaigns and expanded key account

precision components solutions identified through our

management programs we intend to deepen our

strategic marketing initiatives. We have many good

relationships with these customers and further enhance

opportunities for both ATS Precision Components and

our success rate on competitive bids. Overall,

Automation Systems (see pages 6 through 15). One of

our industry leadership – reflected in our leading

the primary areas we’re targeting for growth is

technologies, leading capabilities and leading financial

healthcare, and we have plans to expand sales in various

strength – leaves us very well positioned to benefit from

areas of this industry, including pharmaceuticals. These

stronger market demand.

plans include developing automation tools for healthcare

2. Drive sales in all areas of our business, add market

and achieving Current Good Manufacturing Practices

share and generate improving returns on existing

(CGMP), the healthcare quality equivalent of ISO.

assets. We have a number of objectives here, all with

4. Build revenue for Precision Components through

the primary goal of adding profitable sales and

value-added subassembly assignments. An important

maximizing the utilization of available capacity. To take

driver of new revenue in fiscal 2004 and for the next few

full advantage of our new technologies, and broaden

years is the multi-million dollar, automotive power seat

ATS 2003 / 3
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assembly program we secured two years ago. This

Conclusion

assignment is one of the largest subassembly projects

After 25 years, ATS has amassed much strength.

we’ve worked on and provides us with an attractive –

The strength of our global presence. The strength of our

and over time, escalating – new source of revenue. In

highly diversified customer relationships. The strength

this new fiscal year, we expect revenue under this

of our custom automation solutions, now augmented

contract of between $12 million and $15 million. This

by

assignment allows us to showcase our advanced

technologies. The strength of a best-in-class balance

manufacturing and automation capabilities and how

sheet. All of these factors make ATS very robust. But

they can be successfully applied to meet a multinational

our true strength is in the broad knowledge and

customer’s complete subassembly requirements.

expertise we have accumulated over the years in

5. Expand on our early success in the thermal

supplying so many different solutions to so many

management device market. ATS Precision Components

different industries. This strength secures our future

has created a multi-million dollar business providing

and gives us the ability to constantly expand sales

high-volume, proprietary thermal cooling devices for

potential and secure new assignments, from existing as

major computer manufacturers. In this new fiscal year,

well as new markets.

we intend to aggressively pursue new sales for this

We sincerely thank our customers, shareholders, ATS

venture from both existing and potential customers.

employees and our Board of Directors for their ongoing

This will add incremental revenue to our Precision

support. We look forward to working with and on behalf

Components business.

of all our stakeholders to deliver more in the future.

our

industry-leading

6. Ready our Spheral Solar™ Power business for
commercial launch in spring 2004. At the time of

Yours sincerely,

writing, construction of our first 20 megawatt SSP
factory is well underway, and installation of the ATS
automated

workstations

that

will

produce

our

revolutionary large-format cells is planned for this fall.
Relationships with companies that can help bring our
technology to market broadly and effectively are now

Klaus D. Woerner,
President and Chief Executive Officer

being targeted.
After spending the time and money to develop our
industry leadership, the time has come to deliver the
benefits of these investments.
Lawrence G. Tapp,
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board
June 17, 2003
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ATS delivers innovative solutions to
customers in diverse markets on a
global scale. Today, we are the industry
leader as a result of our ability to add
substantial value through the broad
application of our knowledge, expertise
and technologies. Tomorrow, we expect
to maximize the value of this leadership
to deliver even more for both customers
and shareholders.

ATS 2003 / 5
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Delivering value in

healthcare
This multi-station ATS automation system assembles
personal medical devices in a clean room environment.
Automation, which ensures high quality and rapid
throughput, is ideal for the production of implantable and
wearable medical pumps, dispensers and monitors.

This high-speed, automated transport
system from ATS is handling test
tubes containing sensitive medical
samples. Material handling solutions
are in demand in all industries but
particularly in healthcare.

ATS 2003 / 6

The components of a medical
syringe are captured and displayed
by an ATS machine vision system.
We are a world leader in machine
vision, which enables customers to
ensure precise alignment, part
presence and positioning of critical
components during manufacturing.
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Market Opportunities ATS has identified and
is pursuing four major healthcare markets –
pharmaceutical, diagnostics, biotechnology and
medical electronics – that are expected to consume
many millions of dollars of automation solutions over
the next decade. Our most promising areas for
expansion include automating the production and
assembly of drug discovery devices, medical
consumables, disposable diagnostics and implantable
microelectronics and building specialized production
systems that function in sterile and highly controlled
environments. In many of these environmentally
sensitive applications, automation dramatically cuts
the risks and costs of human contamination.

This 3D CAD drawing depicts an
automated material handling system
recently delivered by ATS and now
being used in a highly controlled,
barriered environment to advance the
clinical trials of a later stage
biopharmaceutical product.

Customer-Focused Solutions We have the
unique capabilities to design, build and fully integrate
custom automation solutions that seamlessly link
complex manufacturing stations to dramatically
increase throughput and quality and cut costs –
thereby answering the needs of today’s healthcare
companies. Our specialized healthcare automation
expertise includes plant floor design, process module
and line simulation, machine prototyping and machine
and software integration, precision liquid and solids
handling and dispensing, high-speed, high-accuracy
inspection and metrology, motion control, material
handling and robotics, third party machine analysis
and class 1 clean room production. Over the past four
years, our value-added capabilities have allowed ATS
to successfully deliver large-scale and specialized
automation to some of the world’s leading healthcare
companies.

This private label automated workstation was
supplied to a multinational healthcare company
under a contract equipment arrangement. Contract
equipment manufacturing is an area of strong
growth potential.
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Delivering value in

automotive
This high-speed automation system, featuring ATS’s
proprietary Production STATS software package that
tracks and analyzes manufacturing performance, is
now being used to produce a next-generation electric
power steering motor. ATS also helped our customer
optimize the design of this motor before production
launch to improve manufacturability and reduce
unit cost.

This photo shows a number of ATS pre-engineered
modules (“standard products”) including Supertrak™,
Component Feed and Superbot™ material handling
systems. These proprietary technologies have
become a key part of our value proposition and a
catalyst for recent substantial market share gains.

ATS 2003 / 8
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Market Opportunities The global automotive
industry is one of our largest and most stable
automation systems markets. Going forward, we
believe it will continue to offer solid prospects for
ATS due to intense automotive industry competition
and the ongoing adoption of new safety and luxury
enhancements. The opportunities for our Precision
Components and Automation Systems groups are
This ATS test system analyzes the noise levels and signature tones
made by an electronic automotive product that will be installed in a
wide variety of vehicles. Internal automated measurement and test
add additional value to our turn-key solutions capabilities.

many and include producing automotive
subassemblies, automating the production of solid
state sensors used in accelerometers and pressure
sensors, assembling electronics used in onboard
instrumentation, navigation and diagnostics, and
automating the production of engine and drive train
control systems (transmission, fuel injection and speed
control). In fact, ATS is already at the forefront of
providing automated manufacturing systems to
support the future transition to brake-by-wire and
steer-by-wire automotive electronic systems.

Customer-Focused Solutions ATS
delivers value for automotive customers in two
distinct ways. First, we are equipped to design, build,
assemble and service turn-key, custom automation
systems specifically geared to automotive and
ATS designed and built this automation system for a
European tier one automotive supplier to assemble
and test complete products. It contains numerous ATS
value-added technologies including Superbots™,
Flexible Feeder systems, and ATS Tray Handlers.

automotive electronics applications. Second, when
our customers need a secure, high-volume supply of
plastic and metal precision components and valueadded subassemblies to feed their automated systems,
we use our resident Precision Components’
manufacturing expertise and in-house technologies
to engineer, prototype, mold, turn, stamp, assemble
and test these components on an outsourced basis.
The value we deliver in automotive has continued to
escalate over the years as ATS has broadened its
precision components capabilities and geographic
presence, and launched new standard automation
technologies to accommodate the production and

ATS Precision Components
is now producing this high-value,
automotive subassembly system for a major
customer. This multi-year assignment makes
use of our precision component prototyping, metal
turning, forming and injection molding, automated
test and advanced manufacturing capabilities.

test of highly complex subassemblies.
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Delivering value in

computer-electronics
ATS won a competitive bid – and gained a major firsttime customer this year – by designing and building
this unique kitting system for accurate, high-speed
retrieval and bundling of subcomponents to facilitate
assembly of build-to-order computers. The complete
line is also displayed in the CAD drawing below.

UP

Our Flexsys™ family of advanced automation
platforms is gaining traction in various markets
because these workcells are scalable, flexible and
easily configurable for wireless, micro-medical,
semiconductor, computer peripheral, and other
specialty, high-precision applications.

ATS 2003 / 10
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Market Opportunities This vast industry
remains fertile ground for ATS due to rapid product
change and ongoing customer need for both cost
reduction and ultra-high-precision production of
miniaturized components. These trends play to our
strengths as a leader in automating the production of
advanced computer peripherals. Going forward, we
also see new opportunities for automation in other
areas including telecommunications and consumer
electronics. These opportunities will complement the
Using 16 Superbot™ automated material handling modules (and in doing
so providing faster delivery, maximum reliability and value for money),
we won this multi-million dollar automation systems contract, further
demonstrating the competitive power we’ve gained from our leading
automation technologies.

growth potential we’ve added for our Precision
Components operations through the launch of their
own high-volume thermal management devices used
to cool advanced computer processors. Over time, we
also expect renewal in traditional semiconductor

UP

fabrication and specialty chip packaging.

Customer-Focused Solutions ATS has
broad and deep experience in serving computerelectronics customers and we are currently expanding
our already solid presence in Asia-Pacific. This makes
us well-situated to secure many assignments in both
traditional and new application areas and in regions
presenting the greatest opportunities for attractive
growth. Our capabilities and experience in contract
equipment manufacturing, computer peripherals and
electronics, coupled with our expertise in ultra-highprecision alignment, die bonding, special packaging
and automated testing are of particular importance to
computer-electronics and semiconductor customers
and have allowed us to gain further market share.
And our proprietary thermal management devices,
designed and built within our Precision Components
operations, are opening new revenue sources for us in
fiscal 2004.
Sales of our proprietary
thermal management
devices, designed and
built by ATS Precision
Components, are expected
to increase in the future as
computer manufacturers
increase production of
higher-speed desktops
and servers.
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Delivering value in emerging

solar energy markets
In May 2003, Spheral Solar™ Power (SSP) produced what
is believed to be the world’s largest crystalline solar cell,
measuring 150 mm by 600 mm. Along with its flexible and
pliable characteristics, this SSP cell promises to deliver
substantially lower manufacturing costs because it uses less
silicon to produce energy and benefits from its larger size.
Our first 20-megawatt factory opening this fall is being
configured to produce this large solar cell.

SSP technology is comprised of numerous small silicon spheres
bonded between two flexible, aluminum substrates that act as
conductors separated by an insulation layer. Silicon has been the
material of choice to produce solar energy for years. What’s
revolutionary about our SSP technology is its innovative design.

Designed and built by ATS, this innovative automation system will be installed at the new Spheral Solar™ Power facility in Cambridge where it
will be used to laser weld individual solar cells together to produce complete solar modules.
ATS 2003 / 12
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Market Opportunities The solar energy
industry has generated long-term growth in excess of
20% per annum. This is being driven by government
incentives, increasing consumer interest in clean,
renewable energy and reductions in cost per watt of
solar power. Growth is expected to continue as
industrialized countries strive to meet environmental
commitments and promote energy self-sufficiency.
Since 1997, ATS has participated in this growth
Our first SSP product is a flexible solar panel targeted for use in
marine, recreational vehicles and other off-grid applications. These
applications are ideally suited to our technology because it’s robust,
lightweight and flexible. In addition, these markets offer premium
profit margins and, with faster product approval requirements, can
be quickly penetrated.

through Photowatt International, a low-cost leader
in conventional photovoltaics. Now, ATS has the
potential to unlock even greater growth potential by
introducing Spheral Solar™ Power, a revolutionary
next-generation solar energy solution. In preparation
for commercial launch of SSP in calendar 2004,
we have successfully created a 6 inch by 24 inch
(150 mm by 600 mm) solar cell. We believe this is
the world’s largest crystalline cell.

Spheral Solar™ Power Solutions On
schedule to be commercially launched in the spring
of calendar 2004, Spheral Solar™ Technology uses
a revolutionary manufacturing method that involves
bonding tiny silicon spheres to aluminum substrates
(foils). This proprietary process consumes far less
silicon than conventional solar products, and this
promises to make SSP cells substantially more
This is one of multiple automation workstations that will be installed at
our new SSP factory beginning this fall. ATS will build all of the
automation for this first factory and all subsequent factories worldwide.

economical to manufacture. At the same time, the
pliable, tough, lightweight nature of SSP technology
opens the potential to sell new fully integrated
solar products in high-growth markets such as
homebuilding, automotive and marine. Since
launching our initiative last year, ATS has secured
government support, produced initial SSP cell
quantities on its pilot line, made substantial progress
in the development and manufacture of the automated
manufacturing and test systems and is well along
in the construction of a new building in Cambridge,
Ontario that will house the first 20-megawatt
SSP factory.

Using a backlight probe, this high-precision ATS test system
automatically tests and verifies the voltage output of approximately
73,000 individual spheres within a Spheral Solar™ cell.
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The platform for delivering

value now and
in the future
Our strength as a business today and our growth potential for the future rests not
on one skill or product, but on our ability to bring all of our capabilities, experience
and expertise together to drive value for customers and shareholders alike.
Today, ATS has the platform to deliver growth and opportunity for the long term.

Design and Engineering
We provide a comprehensive range of design and valueadded engineering skills and services to our customers –
including mechanical, electrical, controls, test and
inspection engineering, process verification, specification
writing and simulation – utilizing our 25 years of broad
industry experience, skilled workforce, state-of-the-art
computer-aided design resources, and library of more
than 10,000 automation systems designs. Using both our
automation and precision component skills, we also help
customers enhance their product designs to improve
manufacturability and further reduce product costs.

Turn-Key, Fully-Integrated Factory Automation
By combining our industry-leading technical knowledge, automation
technologies, diverse manufacturing skills and resources, capabilities
and expertise with proprietary hardware and software for automation
systems control, inspection, test, communication and optimization, ATS
provides customers with a single source for turn-key factory automation
solutions. The result is greater control over product throughput and
quality, higher productivity, faster delivery and increased return on the
customer’s investment.

Contract Equipment Build Expertise
Healthcare and semiconductor private label Original Equipment
Manufacturing (OEM) companies are increasingly looking to outsource
ongoing supply of specialized machines. ATS serves these OEMs by taking
their designs and developing, building, verifying, testing and integrating
the equipment on an outsourced basis.

Lean Automation
Many companies are opening factories in countries where low-cost labour
is abundant. For these customers, ATS creates lean automation solutions that
use technology to maintain precision and process consistency within a
manual labour environment, thus ensuring high quality at low cost.
ATS 2003 / 14
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Standard Automation Tools and Technologies

Product Prototyping

To add value, differentiate ATS, accelerate customer deliveries,
and provide enabling solutions not available from third party
equipment providers, we have created a growing portfolio of preengineered software and hardware modules – “standard products”
– which we use as building blocks for custom automation
solutions. Today, our technologies are setting new standards in
motion control, material handling, assembly, machine vision,
inspection, test, machining, armature, coil and stator winding,
testing and robotics.

ATS Precision Components uses its engineering resources
to build prototype parts for customers before high-volume
manufacturing begins at ATS facilities. This value-added
service allows us to optimize product design for
manufacturability, thereby reducing costs and increasing
throughput. Our total program management
ensures superior part quality at the lowest cost per part.

Manufacturing Resources
We employ our own broad range of high-precision
manufacturing technology such as plastic injection
molding, stamping, automated turning, machining,
eccentric grinding, worm hobbing, bonding, automated
testing as well as logistics to serve our customers as a
single source, high-volume supplier of complex, closetolerance plastic and metal precision components.

Value-Added Subassembly Supply
ATS uses its full manufacturing resources, including
prototyping and parts supply, to build complete
subassemblies for customers on a single source,
high-volume, cost-effective basis.

Worldwide Facilities
Multinational customers require multinational support. With 26 fully equipped
facilities, encompassing 1.7 million square feet, ATS has strategically located its
operations globally to meet the needs of its diversified account base – and is
ISO 9001 and QS 9000 registered.

Customer Training
To ensure our customers have all the knowledge they need to use and maintain
their new automation systems, we provide a complete documentation package and
offer dedicated, hands-on classroom training for their employees.

After Sales Service
ATS automation systems work in demanding environments. To maximize
production uptime, we offer customized preventative maintenance programs, online
remote diagnostics, and global emergency parts and service. All of our systems are
tested before and after installation and all are backed by warranties.
ATS 2003 / 15
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Management’s Discussion
and Analysis
Overview The last two years have been challenging for the automation industry and for many of our
manufacturing customers. Unstable economic conditions reduced demand for capital equipment and
moderated the Company’s traditional revenue growth rates. In response to these conditions,
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. (“ATS”) largely retained its highly skilled and valued workforce and
invested strategically to build further competitive advantage for the Company. The extra manpower was
strategically deployed to advance the Company’s technology base and family of modular standard
automation modules (software and hardware) that are integrated into and enhance the value of custom
ATS automation solutions for customers and the Company alike. Initiatives to improve productivity, reduce
costs, and improve margins were implemented. Sales and marketing resources were increased to generate
sales opportunities in both existing and new markets. New Precision Components programs were secured
and investments were made to launch production. Lower revenue resulting from the economic downturn,
combined with the costs associated with these important strategic initiatives, reduced earnings during the
past two years. However, ATS remained profitable and its strong financial position improved. Management
believes that its ongoing commitment to the Company’s longer-term strategy will provide significant
benefits in the form of higher revenue, earnings and return on investment when market demand improves.
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Certain statements contained in this annual report constitute forward-looking statements. These include statements about
management’s expectations, beliefs, intentions or strategies for the future, which are indicated by words such as “anticipate,
intend, believe, estimate, forecast and expect” and similar words. All forward-looking statements reflect management’s current
views with respect to future events, and are subject to numerous risks, uncertainties and assumptions that have been made.
Management has identified a number of important factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to be
materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements which are discussed in this
management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”), elsewhere in this annual report, and in other continuous disclosure filings
of the Company. Actual results could vary materially from those that are expressed or implied by these forward-looking
statements due to any of the risks and uncertainties that are described in this MD&A, that are unknown to management or from
risks that management currently believes to be immaterial.
This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements which have been
prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). Amounts are expressed in Canadian
currency unless otherwise noted.
REPORTING SEGMENTS

ATS’s three reportable operating segments are Automation Systems, Precision Components and Solar. Solar was segmented from
Precision Components results for the first time in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 and comparative historical data are provided in
this analysis. Operating income is one of several measures which the Company uses to evaluate the performance of these
segments. Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements provides selected financial data for each of the Company’s segments
including revenue and operating income and a reconciliation to total Company revenue and earnings from operations for fiscal
2003 and 2002. The terms “earnings from operations,” “operating income” and “operating margin” do not have any standardized
meaning prescribed within GAAP and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies.
AUTOMATION SYSTEMS GROUP

The Company’s largest segment is the Automation Systems Group (“ASG”) which contributed 73% of consolidated revenue in
fiscal 2003. ASG is primarily engaged in the custom design, manufacture, installation, service and support of automated
manufacturing and test systems principally for multinational manufacturing companies in a broad range of industries and
applications. A key element of ATS’s strategy is to target and develop opportunities in numerous industrial markets.
For discussion purposes, these are categorized into broad industry groups which include automotive, computer-electronics,
healthcare and other. Contract values are often in excess of $1 million. Delivery times may vary greatly given the custom nature
of these assignments; however, the duration of most contracts is 36 to 42 weeks. As described in Note 1(g) to the consolidated
financial statements, revenue from automation systems contracts is recognized under the percentage of completion method
of accounting, which requires management to exercise significant judgment in estimating the future costs of completing
individual contracts. ASG serves its multinational customers globally and is comprised of 18 manufacturing facilities totalling
1,279,200 sq. ft. including four sites in Canada (584,200 sq. ft.), seven sites in the U.S. (447,600 sq. ft.), four facilities in Europe
(177,900 sq. ft.) and three in Asia-Pacific (69,500 sq. ft.).
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT’D)

AUTOMATION SYSTEMS GROUP

(TABULAR DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)

Revenue by Industry
Automotive

Fiscal 2003
$

Computer-electronics

177.6

Fiscal 2002
$

158.5

Fiscal 2001
$

169.7

155.2

141.2

247.5

Healthcare

64.5

70.1

76.4

Other

28.4

23.9

32.1

Total ASG Revenue

$

425.7

$

393.7

$

525.7

$

285.8

$

270.4

$

422.4

Revenue by Installation Location
North America
Europe

96.4

86.5

70.4

Asia-Pacific and Other

43.5

36.8

32.9

Total ASG Revenue

$

425.7

$

393.7

$

525.7

Operating Income

$

17.3

$

24.5

$

75.3

Operating Margin
Employees at Year End

4.1%
2,118

6.2%
2,052

14.3%
2,188

Following an extended period of rapid growth in revenue and earnings, ASG produced lower revenues and earnings during
2002 and 2003 fiscal years reflecting an industry-wide downturn in automation systems spending. This decline in demand was
likely the result of economic and geopolitical events which weakened customer confidence in making long-term investment
decisions. The North American computer-electronics market experienced the steepest decline in demand for the Company’s
automation solutions. Semiconductor and fibreoptics industries within this reporting segment dramatically cut automation
expenditures in response to major cyclical downturns. As a result, fiscal 2003 ASG revenue was 19% lower than the record level
achieved in fiscal 2001. Although semiconductor and fibreoptics/photonics markets did not recover during fiscal 2003, total ASG
revenues increased 8% over fiscal 2002 reflecting the Company’s ability to benefit from its diversified markets, leading
technology, capabilities, global presence and financial strength to win business and capture market share.
ASG operating earnings during fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2003 also declined from the peak levels achieved in fiscal 2001 primarily
as a result of lower revenues. Furthermore, operating margins were affected as competition in ASG’s markets became more
intense and as the proportion of revenue derived from re-orders for identical automation systems was reduced as
ATS customers focused on developing new products that required new automation.
Lower earnings also reflected the costs associated with a number of strategic corporate initiatives, including the decision to
retain the majority of the Company’s highly skilled workforce in spite of lower revenues during this period. The workforce was
retained in anticipation of a recovery in demand and because of the significant costs and time to recruit and train the type of
skilled and experienced employees upon whom ASG relies to serve the needs of its customers. The workforce was not idle. It
was employed productively to build competitive advantages for ATS, including development of new technology and standard
automation products and modules that can be integrated into numerous automation systems applications to provide distinct
advantages to customers and operational efficiencies and pricing advantages for ATS. Additional initiatives to reduce operating
costs and improve employee productivity were implemented. Sales and marketing personnel and expenditures were increased,
while expenditures in other areas were tightly controlled. As a result, in spite of lower revenues, ATS remained profitable even
while funding its strategic initiatives and building strength for the future.
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ASG revenues, operating earnings and margins were also affected by the following events during the past two years:
• In the third quarter of fiscal 2003, ASG incurred a $1.1 million dollar expense to write down two automation projects for two
fibreoptics customers who became insolvent.
• In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, ASG incurred a $3.2 million expense to write down the value of certain inventories in four
different areas of business.
• In the third quarter of fiscal 2003, ASG acquired Magnet GmbH, an automation controls subcontractor to ASG’s Munich facility,
to reduce third-party risk and subcontract expenses. The cost of the purchase was $3.4 million. Magnet was successfully
integrated into the Munich operations during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003.
• Also in the third quarter of fiscal 2003, ASG acquired the outstanding non-controlling equity interest in ATS Test Systems Inc.,
an automation measurement and test subsidiary located in Ontario, Canada at a cost of $3.8 million. The transaction reduced
the non-controlling interest in earnings of subsidiaries but did not impact ASG operating earnings as the subsidiary was
already consolidated in ASG’s operating results.
• Fiscal 2002 earnings were negatively impacted by approximately $31 million of order cancellations during the last three
quarters of that year, primarily from photonics and semiconductor companies, which created manufacturing inefficiencies.
• Order cancellations in fiscal 2003 totalled $18.2 million, including $13.5 million recorded in the fourth quarter for two projects
which had been inactive for a number of months and which management expects to be terminated. Order cancellations before
fiscal 2002 were infrequent.
New automation systems order bookings (“Order Bookings”) represent new orders for the supply of automation systems which
management believes are firm. Order Bookings were $426 million in fiscal 2003, 13% higher than the $378 million recorded in
fiscal 2002 and 19% lower than the record high Order Bookings generated in fiscal 2001.
NEW AUTOMATION SYSTEMS ORDER BOOKINGS BY QUARTER

(TABULAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)

Fiscal 2003
Q1

$

Q2

128

Fiscal 2002
$

110

Fiscal 2001
$

138

82

63

106

Q3

93

111

163

Q4

123

94

116

Total

$

426

$

378

$

523

Backlog at March 31

$

161

$

168

$

212

Automation Systems order Backlog (“Backlog”) is the estimated unearned portion of Automation Systems revenue on external
customer contracts which are in process and have not been completed at the specified date. Backlog was $161 million at March 31,
2003, 5% lower than the Backlog of $168 million on hand at March 31, 2002 primarily as a result of the weakening of the U.S. dollar
compared to the Canadian dollar during fiscal 2003 and the associated impact on U.S. dollar contracts. In addition to the Backlog
of $161 million for external customers, ASG had approximately $20 million of automation systems work in process at March 31,
2003 that is being built for the Company’s Spheral Solar™ Power initiative.
Management reviews the distribution of Backlog across individual manufacturing facilities to estimate the utilization of Company
resources in the near term. At year end, ASG’s two west coast facilities continued to have less than desirable levels of Backlog
as a result of their customer concentration in computer-electronics and semiconductor markets, which remain soft. Where
practical, management will transfer work to these facilities from other plants with stronger Backlogs; however, earnings
improvements in the west coast operations will be limited until orders improve at these sites. SARS problems represent an
additional concern for ASG’s Asian operations, the impact of which cannot be determined at the current time. Management
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT’D)

believes that the overall Backlog at March 31, 2003 is at reasonable levels and it is better distributed across the Company’s
manufacturing sites than it has been for a number of months.
Management remains cautious regarding the timing of a sustained increase in overall market demand for automation systems
because of continuing economic uncertainty. However, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 and opening weeks of the fiscal 2004
year, the Company saw indications suggesting market conditions may have begun to improve. ASG’s Order Bookings also
increased sequentially in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2003. Management assesses its quotation and active order
prospects on an ongoing basis and believes that its order prospects have improved since January 2003. This includes
opportunities within many of the Company’s established markets and customers as well as with new targeted accounts within
the emerging healthcare market. However, at the current time, these prospects are not firm orders and significant improvement
in ASG revenue and earnings will be dependent upon the Company’s ability to convert these prospects into orders on a timely
basis in sufficient quantity to generate increased revenue and resource utilization.
Despite difficult economic conditions over the last two fiscal years, management believes the underlying long-term trends that
create demand for the Company’s automation systems are continuing in numerous markets. These trends include the continuing
need for manufacturers to reduce costs, outsource, implement technology advancements, launch new products, improve quality,
miniaturize products and compete and operate globally. These forces are expected to create long-term demand within numerous
markets for ATS automated manufacturing and test systems. Furthermore, management believes that its established strategies,
diversified markets and the strategic investments made, especially during the past two years, have allowed the Company to
gain significant competitive advantages in terms of its innovative technology, capabilities, capacity, retained workforce
experience and financial strength.
PRECISION COMPONENTS GROUP

The Precision Components Group (“PCG”) is a high-volume, repetitive manufacturing business that also serves automotive,
computer-electronics, healthcare and other markets. Products supplied by PCG include precision plastic injection molded
components, turned, stamped and formed metal components and complete subassemblies which often contain other
components manufactured by PCG and use equipment manufactured by the Company’s Automation Systems Group. PCG
revenue is recognized at the time of product shipment to the customer, providing collection is reasonably assured. PCG’s
customer base is currently comprised primarily of tier one automotive companies in North America. PCG operates
five manufacturing plants in Ontario and one in Texas. PCG generated 21% of consolidated revenue in both fiscal 2003 and
fiscal 2002.
Automotive customers comprised 89% of fiscal 2003 PCG revenue and the key factors currently impacting PCG’s operating
performance include automotive production volumes and demand, new product launches and competitive pricing.
Automobile companies continue to demand price concessions from suppliers. PCG’s business strategy has adapted to address
continuing price pressure in automotive markets. PCG has successfully implemented numerous cost reduction initiatives across
its lines of business for a number of years. However, ongoing price reduction demands of customers have limited the ability of
PCG to significantly improve earnings, margins and returns on its established base of automotive components business. As a
result, PCG implemented a strategy to target opportunities which it believes offer more attractive margins and rates of return
and that are less sensitive to pricing pressure. Specifically, PCG targeted opportunities for subassembly, non-automotive
products and/or opportunities which would better utilize existing production capacity. Subassembly opportunities allow the
Company to make combined use of its diverse engineering, prototyping and manufacturing capabilities in engineered injection
molding, metal turning, metal forming, automated assembly and test. In addition, management continues to focus on cost
reduction initiatives. Management believes that PCG’s combined capabilities increase value added, positioning PCG to grow
revenues and help combat pricing pressure.
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The largest automotive subassembly order PCG has won to date is a five-year contract for an innovative new power seat
adjustment subsystem announced in May 2001, which commenced production in May of 2003 as planned. These subsystems
are being supplied to a major U.S.-based multinational automotive company for use in power seats to be sold to numerous
vehicle manufacturers. The subsystems incorporate a number of injection molded plastic, turned metal and stamped metal
components manufactured by ATS. No shipment volumes are guaranteed under the contract. However, based on customer
projections, the Company expects this contract to generate $12 million to $15 million of revenue in fiscal 2004. The following
year, revenue under this contract is projected to increase to an annualized rate of $40 million to $50 million, as ATS’s customer
gains targeted additional customers and market penetration for its products. In addition, in the second quarter of fiscal 2003
ATS secured a number of other automotive precision component orders with an estimated annualized aggregate revenue value
of $20 million. These orders are expected to commence production in the fall of 2003.
Also under this strategy, in fiscal 2002, PCG launched a thermal solutions business targeted primarily at the computer-electronics
industry. Under this initiative, PCG enhanced its engineering expertise in thermals, acquired and developed intellectual property
and created and advanced a family of proprietary thermal solutions products primarily for use in cooling microprocessors used
in computer server and desktop units. These thermal solutions products incorporate plastic and metal components produced
by PCG as well as third-party supplied fans and motors. PCG began shipping initial units in the second quarter of fiscal 2003
with revenues increasing sequentially through the balance of the year and into early fiscal 2004. Thermal solutions revenues
totalled $5.4 million in fiscal 2003. PCG’s products currently have been qualified to cool certain microprocessors running at up
to 3.4 GHz. Management believes that, with reasonable design enhancements, its products will be capable of effectively cooling
microprocessors running at 4 GHz and slightly higher. PCG is the only significant North American supplier of such thermal
solutions. Targeted customers for thermal solutions products are typically computer manufacturers and contract assemblers.
In February 2003, PCG acquired Micro Precision Plastics Inc. (“MPP”), an Ontario, Canada precision injection molding company,
at a cost of $8.6 million, to add additional capabilities to better serve customers needs. MPP contributed $2.3 million to fiscal
2003 PCG revenue and made a positive contribution to operating earnings in the fourth quarter. In the first quarter of fiscal 2002,
PCG acquired Omex Inc., a precision metal forming and stamping company, also based in Ontario, at a cost of $10.9 million.
Omex has continued to perform well and has contributed positively to operating results in both fiscal 2002 and 2003.
PRECISION COMPONENTS GROUP

(TABULAR DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)

Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

Revenue by Industry
Automotive

$

111.4

$

102.3

$

95.6

Computer-electronics

5.4

3.9

Healthcare

1.9

1.1

—

Other

6.3

6.5

1.4

Total PCG Revenue

16.7

$

125.0

$

113.8

$

113.7

$

122.6

$

110.7

$

100.4

Revenue by Region
North America
Europe

1.3

0.1

1.8

Asia-Pacific and Other

1.1

3.0

11.5

Total PCG Revenue

$

125.0

$

113.8

$

113.7

Operating Income

$

3.0

$

2.1

$

5.7

Operating Margin

2.4%

1.9%

5.0%

Employees at Year End

956

773

765
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT’D)

PCG revenue, operating earnings and operating margins increased in fiscal 2003 over the previous year, however, the effect of
ongoing price reductions and the costs of strategic initiatives continued to restrict PCG’s operating performance and investment
returns during the year.
A number of long-term automotive Precision Component contracts expired in fiscal 2003 and volumes were replaced with the
launch of new automotive programs resulting in an overall 9% increase in PCG automotive revenue. New program launches
typically require the Company to incur operational costs in addition to deferred pre-production expenditures. During fiscal 2003,
in addition to the cost of program launches, PCG incurred costs associated with the power seat subsystem contract and other
programs scheduled to launch production in fiscal 2004. As PCG starts production it typically incurs costs and production
inefficiencies which negatively impact operating margins and earnings.
PCG operating margins were also negatively impacted in 2002 and 2003 fiscal years by the new thermal solutions business.
During fiscal 2003, thermal product shipments increased at a slower than expected rate because of lower market demand for
computers and, as a result, PCG did not achieve breakeven shipment volumes. Shipment volumes of thermal products
have increased since March 31, 2003. Management believes its products are gaining further market acceptance and that this
initiative will produce increased revenues and positive operating earnings contributions in fiscal 2004. Increases in thermal
solutions revenue will be dependent upon end-market demand for PCG customers’ computer products and PCG’s continuing
ability to obtain approval from computer manufacturers for its devices and secure orders and reasonable allocations of
customers’ requirements.
Production volumes of new vehicles by North American automobile companies in calendar 2003 are expected to be approximately
15.9 million vehicles, down from the estimated 16.8 million vehicles produced in 2002. Since PCG’s shipment volumes are not
guaranteed, this may reduce volumes on some contracts in fiscal 2004 that have fully ramped. However, management believes
that the benefits of its strategic initiatives and investments will provide increased PCG revenues, earnings and investment returns
in fiscal 2004 as volumes increase under the programs launched in 2003, the thermal solutions business gains further acceptance
and volumes increase under the power seat subsystem contract that commenced production in May 2003.
SOLAR GROUP

The Solar Group is currently a high-volume, repetitive manufacturer of conventional multi-crystalline solar cells and modules
(sometimes referred to as solar panels) used to generate clean, renewable photovoltaic energy. Solar Group revenue is
recognized at the time of shipment of the products to the customer providing collection is reasonably assured. Solar Group
includes the Company’s conventional solar business, the Photowatt International SA subsidiary located in Bourgoin-Jallieu,
France and a related module assembly business in Albuquerque, New Mexico, as well as a new generation solar technology,
Spheral Solar™ Power (“SSP”), which the Company is currently commercializing and which is not yet producing revenue.
Solar Group’s current customers include numerous small and large distributors and systems integrators in Europe, Africa and
the United States. While the Solar Group may enter into long-term sales contracts, many sales are made on the basis of
individual orders, which may increase revenue volatility. Solar Group generated 8% of consolidated revenue in fiscal 2003,
compared to 9% in fiscal 2002.
Solar markets have been growing and changing rapidly as a result of lower prices and increased demand for clean renewable
energy. Prices have declined because of advances in technology and manufacturing and increased supply. Management estimates
that the global photovoltaic market will approximate 450 megawatts in calendar 2003. The introduction and development of
government subsidies in various markets over the past few years has been a key driver of demand and has accelerated adoption.
The two most established markets for solar energy are Germany and Japan as a result of well-established subsidy programs.
Conventional solar products are priced primarily on watts of electrical output generated and prices change frequently based on
the competitive environment. Current market prices are approximately U.S.$2.75 to U.S.$3.00 per watt. This is down from prices
of approximately U.S.$3.50 per watt a year ago. The reduction in prices during fiscal 2003 was steeper than expected as a result
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of significant new production capacity coming on stream. However solar energy and all other renewable energy sources still
remain more expensive on a cost per watt basis than prices for conventional hydro, nuclear or fossil-generated energy sources
in most industrialized regions of the world.
The current dependence of solar markets on government subsidies creates market volatility. This was evident in fiscal 2003
when Solar Group revenues hit a record level of $18.8 million in the third quarter in advance of a scheduled reduction in German
government subsidy rates on December 31, 2002, and then dropped to $9.6 million in the fourth quarter before beginning to
show signs of recovery in the first quarter of fiscal 2004.
SOLAR GROUP

(TABULAR DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)

Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

Revenue by Region
Europe

$

Africa/Asia/Other
North America

28.8

$

26.5

$

21.6

11.2

15.0

15.0

8.2

9.4

6.1

Total Solar Revenue

$

48.2

$

50.9

$

42.7

Operating Income

$

(0.1)

$

1.1

$

(1.0)

Operating Margin

(0.3%)

2.2%

(2.4%)

Employees at Year End

414

362

349

In response to rapid declines in prices and other changes in its markets, Photowatt’s strategy is to continue to reduce costs,
improve production efficiencies and adapt production to changing market demand. Photowatt increased the value-added
content of its products by rapidly increasing module production during fiscal 2003 and became principally a manufacturer of
solar modules. Previously, the majority of its revenue came from the sale of solar cells. This transition allowed Photowatt to
respond to the shift in end-market demand and capture additional margin associated with module production. Also during fiscal
2003, Photowatt converted the majority of its production to more efficient silicon nitride solar coatings from titanium oxide to
increase the quality and energy-producing capability of its solar products. Numerous other smaller cost reduction and efficiency
initiatives were implemented in fiscal 2003. In the fourth quarter, Photowatt developed a larger 150 mm by 150 mm solar cell
size, 44% larger in surface area than the previous 125 mm by 125 mm cell, as a means to gain additional manufacturing
efficiencies and cost savings. Production of these larger cell sizes is planned to commence in fiscal 2004. All of these initiatives
are important to the future success of Photowatt; however, they required increased investment and resulted in increased costs
for Photowatt in fiscal 2003.
Solar Group operating earnings were also negatively impacted in fiscal 2003 by higher bad debt expenses which totalled
$1.0 million. In addition, as a means to reduce the risk of credit default, during the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Solar Group
took return of approximately $3.1 million of solar modules from a customer with excessive inventory that was experiencing
cash flow problems. As a result, Solar Group revenues were $2.7 million less than in fiscal 2002 and the Solar Group recorded
a $0.1 million operating loss compared to an operating profit of $1.1 million in fiscal 2002. The increase in bad debts in
fiscal 2003 reflected the rapid changes in solar markets and the inherently higher credit risks associated with the emerging
nature of the solar industry. Credit procedures have been enhanced to better manage this risk.
Fiscal 2001 operating results included a significant one-time gain from a contract termination settlement reached with a
Photowatt customer that partially offset operating losses during that period.
In March 2003, Photowatt announced it had won a contract with an estimated value of $31.1 million to supply solar modules to
a leading international solar systems supplier and installer. Initial shipments under this contract began in April 2003 and are
expected to continue over the next 12 months. Shipments are subject to renegotiation under certain circumstances.
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Competition, price reduction pressure and market volatility are expected to continue to be intense in fiscal 2004 as the solar
markets continue to evolve. Management is continuing to focus on cost reduction and efficiency improvements to help offset
price declines. Photowatt plans to use the benefits of the measures taken during fiscal 2003 to gain further efficiencies, both
through the conversion to the larger cell size developed in fiscal 2003 and through new cost reduction initiatives, many of which
are already underway.
To gain competitive cost and market advantages longer term, the Company is now commercializing a new-generation solar
technology called Spheral Solar™ Power (“SSP”). Management believes that SSP offers significant cost advantages over
conventional multi-crystalline solar cell technology principally because of major reductions in the amount of silicon that will be
required to produce an SSP solar cell. Silicon represents a large portion of the cost of conventional solar cells because of their
design, manufacturing processes and yields. In addition, SSP will produce a pliable, light, tough solar cell which is expected to
create new market opportunities for the adoption of solar technology which are not practical with today’s conventional multicrystalline and single crystalline solar cells, which are very fragile.
SSP technology was originally developed by Texas Instruments, which contracted ATS to help them successfully develop
automated pilot line manufacturing processes for SSP. The technology and pilot line equipment were sold to a third party as
part of a restructuring by Texas Instruments. ATS acquired the SSP technology and related assets from this third party in late
1997 and had previously hired a number of the Texas Instruments SSP engineering development team. In 2001, management
began to further develop the SSP design to further reduce its cost and increase manufacturing efficiency and sought government
assistance to support the development and commercialization of the technology. In July of 2002, ATS announced it had
successfully obtained up to $29.5 million of Canadian Federal Government assistance under the Technologies Partnerships
Canada program. Concurrently with this funding announcement, the Company announced that it had initiated the commercial
launch program for SSP with an estimated total project cost, before government assistance, of $80 million to $85 million. The
first SSP plant is currently under construction in Cambridge, Ontario, Canada and is scheduled to commence shipments in the
spring of 2004 with an initial targeted annual production capacity of 20 megawatts. The size of the new facility is expected to
allow for SSP production capacity to be doubled in the future.
During fiscal 2003, the Company further developed the manufacturing processes and equipment for SSP production, created
initial product prototypes, installed and upgraded the pilot line, commenced construction of the plant, as well as the
development, design and manufacture of the automated production systems for the first SSP manufacturing plant. SSP
employed 50 people at March 31, 2003. The upgraded SSP pilot line became operational in the first quarter of fiscal 2003 and,
in May of 2003, SSP announced the manufacture of its first 150 mm by 600 mm SSP solar cell which management believes is
four times larger than the largest currently commercially available solar cell. The pilot line is currently facilitating further process
improvements and providing sample SSP cells to support marketing activities to secure customers for SSP products.
Demonstration projects and lead sales will provide an important platform to market SSP technology and to secure additional
sales orders to utilize the capacity of the first SSP factory.
The Company’s total investment in SSP, after government assistance, was $21.5 million at March 31, 2003. These development
costs, capital equipment costs and the acquisition of the pilot line and intellectual property developed by Texas Instruments
have been capitalized on the Company’s balance sheet in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
and are not reflected in operating earnings. While management believes that SSP will be successful, the initiative involves
certain inherent risks regarding development, market acceptance, commercialization and schedule which are significantly
greater that those associated with the Company’s more established businesses. (See also Investments on p. 26).
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS

Fiscal 2003 consolidated revenues increased 6% over fiscal 2002, while consolidated operating earnings were 42% lower. 30%
of revenues and 84% of fiscal 2002 operating earnings were generated in the first quarter of fiscal 2002 before the impact of
softer market demand reduced utilization of the Company’s productive resources. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, the
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Company recorded a $6.0 million asset impairment charge ($5.6 million after tax) as described in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements. This charge reduced earnings per share basic and diluted by $0.09.
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY DATA

(TABULAR DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

years ended March 31

2003 (unaudited)
Revenue

Q1
$

143,661

Q2
$

147,603

Q3
$

153,824

Q4
$

139,233

Earnings from operations

$

5,867

$

3,636

$

594

$

1,347

Net earnings

$

4,128

$

2,430

$

409

$

(4,624)

Basic

$

0.07

$

0.04

$

0.01

$

(0.08)

Diluted

$

0.07

$

0.04

$

0.01

$

(0.08)

Earnings per share:

2002 (unaudited)

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Revenue

$

162,727

$

132,494

$

123,900

$

130,426

Earnings from operations

$

16,424

$

991

$

1,655

$

537

Net earnings

$

10,869

$

450

$

1,082

$

192

Basic

$

0.18

$

0.01

$

0.02

$

—

Diluted

$

0.18

$

0.01

$

0.02

$

—

Earnings per share:

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Effective April 1, 2002, ATS retroactively adopted the new Recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(“CICA”) related to foreign currency translation. Retroactive adoption of the Recommendations had no material impact on net
earnings for the year ended March 31, 2002 and, as such, the net earnings remain as previously reported. The effect of the
retroactive adoption on the March 31, 2002 balance sheet is described in Note 1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
In December 2001, the CICA issued handbook section 3870, “Stock-based Compensation and Other Stock-based Programs,” as
described in Note 1(l) to the consolidated financial statements. The Company has elected to continue to account for stock options
as capital transactions and has disclosed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements the estimated effect on net earnings
and earnings per share had compensation cost been determined and recorded in the statement of earnings using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the value of stock option awards. This approach was adopted because of
concerns regarding the limitations of existing stock option pricing models in determining a reliable measure of the fair value
of stock option grants.
Effective April 1, 2001, the Company adopted the new Recommendations of the CICA for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
as described in Note 1(f) to the consolidated financial statements. Net earnings for fiscal 2001 did not change since the new
Recommendations are only to be applied prospectively. However, goodwill amortization, net of income taxes, has been
segregated as a separate line item in the income statement and, therefore, earnings from operations increased $2.3 million for
fiscal 2001. If the Recommendations had been retroactively applied, net earnings for the 2001 fiscal year would have increased
$1.5 million to $47.7 million and earnings per share would have increased $0.02 basic and $0.03 diluted. Management has
reviewed its goodwill assets for impairment and determined that there was no impairment as of March 31, 2003. In fiscal 2002
the Company also retroactively adopted the new Recommendations of the CICA with respect to earnings per share, as described
in Note 1(m) to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT’D)

The Company is currently reviewing the impact that the following accounting pronouncements will have on its future
consolidated financial statements. In December 2002, the CICA established new accounting recommendations for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of the impairment of long-lived assets. The standard is effective for the
Company’s year ended March 31, 2004. In February 2003, the CICA issued an accounting guideline requiring disclosures for
certain types of guarantees. This guideline is effective for the Company’s year ended March 31, 2004. In December 2002, the
CICA released the amended accounting guideline “Hedging Relationships” that establishes criteria for accounting for hedges.
This new guideline is effective for the Company’s year ended March 31, 2005.
INVESTMENTS

Cash investments in non-cash operating working capital typically vary in direct relation to changes in revenue volumes and this was
the primary reason for the reduced investment experienced between March 31, 2001 and March 31, 2003. Investment in non-cash
operating working capital increased $6.7 million during fiscal 2003 over fiscal 2002 primarily because of a $22.4 million increased
investment in inventories. This was partially the result of the transition of the Photowatt solar business from cell to module
production and the need to carry greater inventories to be able to react to shorter distribution channels and increased market
volatility. The value of solar inventory located in Europe increased because of the strengthening of the Euro compared to the
Canadian dollar during fiscal 2003. Automation inventory levels increased as a result of the acceleration of the Company’s standard
automation products initiative since these products are often built in batches to reduce manufacturing costs and to facilitate faster
delivery. Precision Components inventories increased principally as a result of the acquisition of MPP in fiscal 2003, the growth
in thermal solutions and in preparation for the power seat subsystems contract. Excluding the increased investment in inventory,
non-cash working capital declined $15.7 million in fiscal 2003 in spite of the 6% increase in consolidated revenue. This reflected
increased focus on working capital management and temporary declines associated with cash flow on automation projects.
INVESTMENTS

(TABULAR DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)

Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

Investments
Non-cash operating working capital

$

6.7

$

(49.9)

$

66.3

Acquisitions

14.7

5.3

14.7

Fixed assets

37.6

29.7

82.4

9.3

16.0

7.9

Other long-term investments
Total Investments

$

68.3

$

1.1

$

171.3

Acquisitions during fiscal 2003 included Magnet GmbH, Micro Precision Plastics and the purchase of the non-controlling equity
interest in ATS Test Systems Inc. Fixed asset expenditures totalled $37.6 million during fiscal 2003 primarily for additional
equipment to support the ongoing operation of the Company’s three operating segments and for numerous strategic initiatives.
The Company acquired equipment for new precision components business (which included the power seat subsystems program
and the thermal solutions business), for cost reduction and productivity gain initiatives in numerous areas of the Company’s three
business segments and in respect to the SSP development program. Specifically, $7.2 million was spent for equipment and
facilities related to the SSP development initiative and $2.5 million for the new automation facility being constructed in France.
During fiscal 2002, ATS also continued to invest in development programs, each of which is intended to support future revenue
and earnings growth. Under Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, development projects, which meet certain
specified criteria, are to be deferred to the extent that recovery of the related development cost can be reasonably regarded as
assured. As described in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company deferred $7.2 million of development
expenditures in fiscal 2003 ( $11.2 million in fiscal 2002 ). Total investment in deferred development was $21.4 million at March
31, 2003, $7.2 million of which is related to the SSP initiative. Other major development programs include the Company’s new
thermal management solutions products and a number of standard automation product development programs (i.e., Supertrak™,
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Flexfeeders™, ATS Flexsys™, and a new generation of machine tool systems). $11.9 million of the total deferred development
costs are for completed development projects that are now being amortized against related revenues. Development initiatives
are a key element of the Company’s strategy, and ATS intends to continue its development activities for the foreseeable future,
while maximizing returns from its now established next-generation automation and thermal products solutions.
The Company’s investment in deferred pre-production costs was approximately $3.0 million at March 31, 2003, $1.5 million
higher than at March 31, 2002. The deferred pre-production costs relate to qualified expenditures, other than capital equipment,
for orders on hand in the Precision Components Group, which are being tooled for production. The largest of these orders, in
pre-production during fiscal 2003, is a power seat adjustment subassembly contract, which commenced production in May 2003.
All of the Company’s investments involve risks and require that the Company make judgments regarding the likelihood of
recovery of costs. In the event management determines that any of the Company’s investments has become permanently
impaired or recovery is no longer reasonably assured, the value of the investment would be written down to its estimated net
realizable value as a charge against earnings. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, management determined that two of its
portfolio investments had been permanently impaired and the values were written down by $4.8 million ($4.8 million after tax).
In the same quarter, the value of certain production equipment was assessed by management as impaired and was written
down by $1.2 million ($0.8 million after tax).
LIQUIDITY, CASH FLOW AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Maintaining a strong balance sheet remains a key strategic objective since it provides the basis for continued investment in
short-term working capital and long-term investments for continuing operations and to support new growth initiatives.
Furthermore, management believes that the Company’s financial strength is a competitive advantage, especially during more
challenging economic environments such as those experienced during fiscal 2002 and 2003.
CASH, LEVERAGE AND CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

(TABULAR DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)

Fiscal 2003
Year end cash and short-term investments

$

Year end debt to equity ratio
Cash flow from operations

82.3

Fiscal 2002
$

0.09:1
$

39.2

113.3

Fiscal 2001
$

0.10:1
$

44.1

72.9
0.11:1

$

74.6

Cash and short-term investments declined by $31 million during fiscal 2003 primarily as a result of investments in non-cash working
capital, acquisitions, fixed assets acquisitions, deferred development and pre-production (see Investments). In spite of increased
investment, the Company’s cash and balance sheet cash position remained very strong during fiscal 2003 and the Company held
cash and short-term investments of $82.3 million at March 31, 2003 and its debt to equity ratio was 0.09:1. This strong cash position
provides ATS with significant financial flexibility to support its future strategies and opportunities. In addition to this cash position,
at March 31, 2003, ATS had $93.2 million of unutilized credit available under its various operating and term bank facilities.
The Company’s future cash flow depends on a number of factors including operating earnings, ongoing working capital
requirements and the level and timing of new orders, capital expenditures and acquisitions which ATS may make. Automation
systems contracts can have a significant impact on the Company’s working capital requirements. Cash flow from an automation
systems contract is determined by the progress billing schedule negotiated with the customer and the achievement by ATS of
specified progress billing milestones. These factors vary from contract to contract and may result in significant changes in cash
requirements from quarter to quarter. Working capital requirements in the precision components and solar business are also
related to changes in revenue, new orders and negotiated contract terms and to new program launches. Timing of cash flows
from precision components and solar contracts may vary depending upon the launch of production on new orders and ongoing
shipment releases provided by the customer. The Company also continues to experience demands for extended payment terms
in all three of its business segments.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT’D)

Total budgeted capital expenditures are approximately $54 million in fiscal 2004 of which approximately $26 million is related
to continued investment in the SSP initiative. Capital spending in any particular year is primarily determined by the Company’s
need to expand capacity for new orders and to update technology in response to market demands and to gain increased
operational efficiencies. Capital expenditures and pre-production expenditures related to major new precision component orders
must often be made six months or more before shipments start.
In addition, the Company will continue to invest in deferred development for SSP as well as in automation technology and
standard product initiatives. The Company reviews strategic acquisition opportunities on a regular basis. Acquisition cash needs,
if any, would depend on the size of the acquisition and form of purchase consideration to be paid.
The operation and activities of the Company in foreign markets creates both foreign currency translation and transaction
exposure to changes in exchange rates, primarily to the U.S. dollar and the Euro. The accounting policy for foreign currency
translation is described in consolidated financial statement Note 1(b). The Company does not hedge its earnings translation
exposure. Therefore, the impact of changes in exchange rates on the translation of the earnings of foreign subsidiaries into
Canadian dollars will be directly reflected in consolidated earnings. However, to reduce its estimated net foreign currency
transaction exposure, the Company maintains a hedging program which is described in consolidated financial statement Note 3.
To the extent net foreign currency cash inflows are not fully hedged, strengthening of the Canadian currency, vis-à-vis these
foreign currencies, will negatively impact the Company’s earnings stated in Canadian dollars. The transaction hedging program
helps mitigate the short-term impact – which management estimates is principally in the four-to-five-month range – of changes
in exchange rates on the Company’s revenues, earnings, balance sheet and order Backlog while the Company seeks to adjust
to longer-term changes in exchange rates and the impact on the Company’s competitiveness in foreign markets.
FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

(CANADIAN DOLLARS)

Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

Year End Rates – March 31,
U.S.$ to Cdn$

$

1.4720

$

1.5935

$

1.5763

Euro to Cdn$

$

1.5796

$

1.3881

$

1.3867

U.S.$ to Cdn$

$

1.5487

$

1.5653

$

1.5049

Euro to Cdn$

$

1.5389

$

1.3844

$

1.3636

Average Rate During Fiscal Year

The rapid decline in value of the U.S. dollar during the fourth quarter was largely mitigated by the Company’s hedging activities.
To further reduce the longer-term impact of currency movements on the Company’s competitiveness, ATS has a significant
operating presence in the U.S. and may also be able to increase the amount of foreign purchases in its Canadian operations to
reduce its net currency exposure. In addition, the Company has worked to gain efficiencies and competitive advantages over
the past two years. However, the Company has significant competition located in the U.S. To the extent the Company is not able
to adjust to changes in exchange rates by increasing work in the U.S., reducing costs in its Canadian operations or providing
more valuable products that command higher prices, revenues and earnings will be negatively impacted. The Audit and Finance
Committee of the Board of Directors regularly reviews the Company’s hedging policy and activities.
All of the Company’s foreseeable cash needs in fiscal 2004 are expected to be funded by cash from operations, existing cash
resources and debt capacity.

June 17, 2003
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OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AND RISK FACTORS

Automation Systems Revenue Mix: An automation systems order typically requires ATS to integrate third party content (third
party equipment and subcontract work) with its own products and services (ATS value added) to produce a complete automated
manufacturing system. Third party content typically comprises a significant portion of the total value of an automation systems
order. Specific third party equipment, reflecting the functional requirements of the system, is often required under the terms of
the customer’s order. ATS typically subcontracts work on an automation systems order, as required, to supplement internal
resources and to manage capacity, order Backlog and customer delivery schedules. The amount of revenue ATS earns from
third party content in automation systems in a particular reporting period depends primarily on the value of such content
integrated by ATS during that period. The amount of third party content may be subject to significant fluctuations from periodto-period, and depends upon the nature and specifications of the automation systems orders in process, the value and timing
of deliveries of third party content, and the amount of subcontracting used in the period.
ASG typically earns significantly lower margins on third party content compared to margins from ATS value added. Therefore,
higher than normal third party content in a period may increase revenues while diluting margins, while lower third party content
in a period may reduce revenues and increase margins. While third party content and subcontracting content was moderately
higher in fiscal 2003, compared to fiscal 2002, the impact on operating margin was overshadowed by the other factors discussed
under “Automation Systems Group.”
Automation Systems Pricing: Individual prices and terms for custom automation systems contracts are typically negotiated
between ATS and its customers. Profit margins on contracts vary depending on a number of factors, including, but not limited
to market conditions, technical risk, competition, the results of negotiation and revenue mix.
Use of Estimates and Contract Risk: The nature of ASG contracts requires the use of estimates to quote new business. Also,
as described in Note 1(g) to the consolidated financial statements, revenue on automation systems contracts is recognized under
the percentage of completion method of accounting, which requires management to exercise significant judgment in
estimating the future costs of completing individual contracts over the life of the contract. Automation systems are typically
sold on a fixed-price basis. The work to be performed involves varying degrees of technical uncertainty, including possible
development work to meet the customer’s specification, the extent of which is sometimes not determinable until after the project
has been awarded. If the actual costs incurred by the Company are significantly higher than estimated, the Company’s earnings
may be negatively affected.
Certain contracts may include penalties for late delivery and/or may expose the Company to liability. ASG contracts may be
terminated by customers in the event of a default by the Company, or for convenience of the customer. In the event of a
termination for convenience, ATS must typically negotiate a settlement reflective of the progress achieved on the contract and/or
the costs incurred to the termination date. If a contract is cancelled, ASG’s Backlog would be reduced and production efficiencies
may be temporarily negatively impacted.
Pricing, Quality, Delivery and Volume Risk: PCG manufactures engineered components and subassemblies primarily for
automotive customers typically under long-term, high-volume contracts of three-to-five-year duration. The majority of these
contracts are sole sourced, usually to tier one automotive customers. Non-automotive products supplied by PCG and Solar
Group contracts are often not sole sourced, and volumes and duration of the contracts are less certain. The existence of
competitive suppliers of these precision components and solar products may expose the Company to greater pricing pressure
and volume risk.
Typically, PCG and Solar Group contracts do not provide volume guarantees. The actual volume of parts shipped may vary
materially from planned levels during the term of the contract and from quarter-to-quarter. Variations from planned volumes
may occur for a number of reasons including changes in demand for the customer’s end product, capacity constraints, quality
problems, competition, and obsolescence.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT’D)

ATS is required to remain competitive on price, quality and delivery as a condition of many of its precision components and
solar contracts. Pricing is often subject to revision and adjustment as a result of negotiations and cost-reduction obligations to
which the Company may be subject. Price reductions may be mandatory under the terms of some contracts. The Company may
also believe it necessary to voluntarily reduce prices as a way to secure higher proportions of the customer’s releases when
competitive circumstances exist. To the extent ATS is obligated, or agrees, to reduce prices and the impact of the reduced prices
is not offset through cost reductions or efficiencies gained from higher volumes, operating margins and earnings will be
negatively impacted. Failure to remain competitive on price, quality and delivery may result in the loss of single-source status
(if in place), reduced shipments and possible termination of the contract. Management believes such terms are customary in
the industries in which it currently operates.
Expansion Risks: New PCG and Solar Group contracts may require the Company to invest in new production equipment,
systems and sometimes facilities, often on tight time schedules. The Solar Group is also required to invest in and adopt new
production processes to gain efficiencies. Bringing these investments into production quickly may expose the Company to
certain risks depending on the size of the investment, the schedule, the technology involved, and the nature of the products to
be produced. When production is first started, the Company often incurs higher costs and lower production rates than for more
established programs, and may encounter significant costs to correct problems which may arise. Furthermore, failure to meet
a customer’s requirements may negatively impact the Company, including possible termination of the contract.
The Company may also experience negative impacts on operating results during periods of rapid change in ASG revenue. New
employees added in highly skilled areas typically take from 18 to 24 months to become fully trained in ATS-specific technologies
and procedures. New ASG facilities may not be fully utilized immediately upon occupancy. Until new employees and new
facilities are fully productive, ASG operating margins may be lower than historical norms. In addition, because of high recruiting
and training costs and the competitive advantages of retaining a stable and experienced workforce, the Company may retain
skilled workers during periods of reduced demand resulting in lower earnings and operating margins during such periods.
Availability of Human Resources: The Company’s business, especially ASG, is knowledge-based. Management believes that to
increase ASG capacity it must continue to attract, retain and develop technical employees whose skills are increasingly in demand.
To a lesser degree, ability to increase PCG and Solar Group capacity is dependent upon availability of key employees with the
specialized skills required to support growth. The Company’s future success also depends upon a number of key employees,
including Klaus D. Woerner, ATS’s President and Chief Executive Officer, and other members of senior management.
New Product Market Acceptance and Obsolescence Risk: Market risk for new or developing technologies such as thermal
management devices, SSP and other solar products and automation standard modules may be higher than for the Company’s
more established customer solutions. There is no assurance that new products will be accepted by the market, that planned
volumes will be realized over the product life or that the product life will not be shorter than expected resulting in product
obsolescence. New products that are launched by ATS, or its competitors, may also have price or other advantages over earlier
generations of products, which compete for the same business, resulting in inventory obsolescence. In addition, newer product
offerings may also require more significant marketing and sales effort to gain market acceptance.
Availability of Raw Materials and Other Manufacturing Inputs: Inability to secure enough raw materials and other inputs to
meet sales demands could negatively impact sales and earnings. Most equipment and other supplies that are integrated into
automation systems are typically available from several suppliers. Customers may specify a particular supplier for certain
components of their automation system, and this specification may constrain the availability of that equipment or supply.
Availability of such items has, to date, not caused any significant difficulties for the Company. The plastics, metals and other
raw materials used most commonly in PCG operations are also available from several sources.
Within the Solar Group operations, adequate supply of silicon and certain specialized manufacturing tools and fixtures can
involve risk of shortage, especially in periods of strong market demand, since there are fewer suppliers and there may be limited
quantities of these inputs available.
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Income and Other Taxes: The Company operates and is subject to income tax and other forms of taxation (which are not based
upon income) in numerous tax jurisdictions. Taxation laws and rates which determine taxation expenses may vary significantly
in different jurisdictions, and legislation governing taxation laws and rates is also subject to changes. Therefore, the Company’s
earnings many be impacted by changes in the proportion of earnings taxed in different jurisdictions, changes in taxation rates
and changes in the amount of other forms of taxation.
Cyclicality: Historically, many of the individual markets served by the Company have tended to be cyclical in nature. Changes
in economic environments, product life cycles and customer product demand within the Company’s markets may impact
ASG Bookings and revenue, PCG and Solar Group volumes, and the Company’s earnings in any of its markets. To the extent
the Company has not secured new orders sufficient to replace any reduction or loss of business that may arise under individually
material contracts, the future revenues and earnings of ATS may be materially negatively impacted. The Company’s broad
customer base and its strategy of diversification through participation in different industries and geographic regions are
intended to provide opportunities to generate new revenue and help reduce cyclical risk associated with individual markets.
However, because of globalization of markets, economic downturns may be broad-based.
Variations in Quarterly Results: The revenues, operating margins and earnings of ATS may vary from quarter-to-quarter as a
result of risk factors discussed in this report. Additional factors which may impact quarterly results include: changes in the
proportion of revenue derived from the different activities of the Company, different margins on work performed, acquisitions,
rate of capacity utilization and expansion, level of investment in new operations, number of new employees added in a period,
level of general and administrative expenses required to support the Company’s growth, level of research and development
activities, bad debt expenses and changes in prevailing currency exchange rates which are used to translate the financial results
of foreign subsidiaries into Canadian dollars.
While sales of ATS’s technologies and solutions are not seasonal in nature, the Company’s quarterly results have often reflected
lower earnings during the summer months, or second quarter. This has generally been the result of lower revenue due to staff
vacations (which reduce capacity) and seasonal customer plant shutdowns.
Litigation: From time-to-time, the Company and its subsidiaries may be subject to actual or threatened litigation and legal
claims. It is management’s opinion that, at the present time, there are no outstanding litigation, claims or threatened or pending
litigation or claims that would have a material impact on the Company’s financial position.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. and all the information in this Annual
Report are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles. The financial statements and other information in this Annual Report include some amounts that are based on
estimates and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent
with that in the consolidated financial statements.
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls which are of high quality,
consistent with reasonable cost. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant,
reliable and accurate and that the Corporation’s assets are properly accounted for and adequately safeguarded.
Management’s responsibilities for financial reporting are overseen by the Board of Directors, which is ultimately responsible for
reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit
and Finance Committee.
The Audit and Finance Committee is appointed by the Board and all of its members are outside directors. The Committee meets
periodically with management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing
matters and financial reporting issues, to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities and to review the
consolidated financial statements and the external auditors’ report. The Committee has reported its findings to the Board which has
approved the consolidated financial statements for issuance to shareholders. The Committee also considers, for review by the Board
and approval of the shareholders, the engagement or reappointment of the external auditors.
The financial statements have been audited on behalf of the shareholders by KPMG LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with
Canadian Generally Accepted Auditing Standards. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit and Finance Committee.

Klaus D. Woerner
President and Chief Executive Officer
June 17, 2003

Ron J. Jutras
Secretary, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. as at March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002
and the consolidated statements of earnings, retained earnings and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan
and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as
at March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Waterloo, Canada
May 9, 2003
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)

2003

at March 31

2002
as restated –
see note 1(b)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and short-term investments
Accounts receivable
Income taxes recoverable
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress (note 4)
Inventories (note 4)
Other

$

Fixed assets (note 5)
Goodwill
Intangible assets (note 6)
Other assets (note 7)

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Bank indebtedness
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress (note 4)
Future income taxes (note 11)

82,333
117,756
1,868
96,546
83,099
3,734

$

113,281
113,704
11,140
104,320
60,712
3,114

385,336

406,271

226,555
63,721
8,949
29,307

212,009
57,974
9,491
27,447

$

713,868

$

713,192

$

—
73,373
14,585
22,128

$

3,108
65,434
12,481
27,455

Long-term debt (note 8)
Future income taxes (note 11)
Non-controlling interest
Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital (note 9)
Retained earnings
Cumulative translation adjustment (note 10)

110,086

108,478

49,754
5,817
1,053

53,860
2,196
2,957

331,499
201,075
14,584

329,660
198,732
17,309

547,158

545,701

Commitments (note 12)
$

713,868

$

713,192

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

Klaus D. Woerner
Director

Robert W. Luba
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

2003

years ended March 31

Revenue
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Depreciation and amortization
Selling and administrative

$

Earnings from operations
Other expenses (income):
Interest on long-term debt
Interest income
Write down for impairment in value of assets (note 14)

584,321

2002
$

549,547

475,283
31,067
66,527

436,821
27,457
65,662

572,877

529,940

11,444

19,607

1,170
(2,025)
5,960

2,172
(2,019)
—

5,105

153

Earnings before income taxes and non-controlling interest

6,339

19,454

Provision for income taxes (note 11)
Non-controlling interest in earnings of subsidiaries

3,602
394

6,499
362

Net earnings

$

2,343

$

12,593

Earnings per share (note 15)
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.04
0.04

$
$

0.21
0.21

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS

(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)

2003

years ended March 31

2002

Retained earnings, beginning of year
Cumulative adjustment for change in accounting policy (note 1(b))
Net earnings

$

198,732
—
2,343

$

190,316
(4,177)
12,593

Retained earnings, end of year

$

201,075

$

198,732

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)

2003

years ended March 31

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings
Items not involving cash:
Depreciation and amortization
Write down for impairment in value of assets (note 14)
Other

$

Cash flow from operations
Change in non-cash operating working capital

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of interest in subsidiaries (note 2)
Acquisition of fixed assets
Investments and other

Cash flows from financing activities:
Bank indebtedness
Issuance of common shares, net of cost of issuance
Other

Increase (decrease) in cash
Cash and short-term investments, beginning of year
Cash and short-term investments, end of year

$

2,343

2002

$

12,593

31,067
5,960
(128)

27,457
—
4,018

39,242
(6,657)

44,068
49,885

32,585

93,953

(14,704)
(37,627)
(9,329)

(5,317)
(29,695)
(15,965)

(61,660)

(50,977)

(3,108)
839
396

(3,500)
786
70

(1,873)

(2,644)

(30,948)
113,281

40,332
72,949

82,333

$

113,281

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(TABULAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

(a) Principles of consolidation: These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ATS Automation Tooling

Systems Inc. and subsidiary companies. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.
(b) Foreign currency translation: Effective April 1, 2002, the Company retroactively adopted the new Recommendations

of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) related to foreign currency translation. The new
Recommendations require gains and losses on the translation of long-term monetary assets and liabilities to be included
in income. Previously, such gains and losses were deferred and amortized over the life of the respective asset or liability.
Retroactive adoption of this policy had no material impact on net earnings for the year ended March 31, 2002 and as
such the net earnings for the year ended March 31, 2002 have remained as previously reported. The retroactive changes
to the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2002 are as follows:
Decrease in other assets

$

4,177

Decrease in retained earnings

$

4,177

The assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries are translated into Canadian dollars at year-end exchange
rates and the resulting unrealized exchange gains or losses are included as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.
The earnings statements of these operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing during the year.
Other monetary assets and liabilities, which are denominated in foreign currencies, are translated into Canadian dollars
at year-end exchange rates, and transactions included in earnings are translated at rates prevailing during the year.
Exchange gains and losses resulting from the translation of these amounts are included in the consolidated statement
of earnings, with the exception of unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses on long-term debt denominated in
foreign currencies. For such long-term debt that is designated as a hedge of the net investment in self-sustaining foreign
subsidiaries, the exchange gains or losses are included in the cumulative translation adjustment account, while exchange
gains and losses on long-term debt that is not designated as a hedge are included in earnings.
(c) Derivative financial instruments: Foreign exchange contracts are used by the Company to reduce financial risks related

to future net cash flows in foreign currencies. Gains and losses on the contracts are recognized in the consolidated
statement of earnings during the same period as the corresponding foreign currency revenues and expenses.
Interest rate swaps may be used by the Company to reduce its risks related to changes in interest rates on its long-term
revolving bank credit facility. The difference between the swap rate and the actual interest rate is reflected in earnings
as incurred.
(d) Cash and short-term investments: Cash and short-term investments consist of cash and highly liquid money market

instruments, typically with maturities of three months or less.
(e) Fixed assets: Fixed assets are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the following methods and annual

rates:
Asset
Buildings
Production equipment
Other equipment and furniture

Basis

Rate

Declining-balance

4%

Straight-line

10–30%

Declining-balance

20–30%

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the terms of the related leases on a straight-line basis.
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(f) Goodwill and intangible assets: Effective April 1, 2001, the Company adopted the CICA handbook section 3062

“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Goodwill is subject to an impairment test on at least an annual basis or upon
the occurance of certain events or circumstances. Goodwill impairment is assessed based on a comparison of the fair
value of a reporting unit to the underlying carrying value of the reporting unit’s net assets, including goodwill. When the
carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is compared
with its carrying amount to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. Management has determined there is no
impairment in goodwill as of March 31, 2003.
Intangible assets, which include patents and licences on technologies, are recorded at cost and amortized over their
estimated economic life.
(g) Contract revenue and inventories: Contract revenue in the Automation Systems segment is recognized using the

percentage of completion method. The degree of completion is determined based on costs incurred, excluding costs
that are not representative of progress to completion, as a percentage of total costs anticipated for each contract.
Incentive awards, claims or penalty provisions are recognized when such amounts can reasonably be determined.
Complete provision is made for losses on contracts in progress when such losses first become known. Revisions in
cost and profit estimates, which can be significant, are reflected in the accounting period in which the relevant facts
become known.
Revenue in the Precision Components and Solar segments are recognized at time of shipment providing collection is
reasonably assured.
Provisions for warranty claims and other allowances are made based on contract terms and prior experience.
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) and net realizable value.
(h) Research and development costs: Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs which meet generally

accepted criteria are capitalized and amortized over the period in which the Company expects to benefit from the
resulting product or process.
(i) Pre-production costs: Pre-production costs related to new contracts are deferred and amortized over the life of the

related contract on a units-of-production basis.
(j) Investment tax credits and government assistance: Investment tax credits and government assistance are accounted

for as a reduction in the cost of the related asset or expense when there is reasonable assurance that such credits or
assistance will be realized.
(k) Income taxes: The Company uses the liability method of tax allocation for accounting for income taxes. Under the

liability method of tax allocation, future tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the substantially enacted tax rates and
laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.
(l) Stock compensation plans: Effective April 1, 2002, the Company adopted the CICA handbook section 3870 “Stock-based

Compensation and Other Stock-based Payments” (“CICA 3870”). The Company has a stock-based compensation plan,
which is described in note 9.
CICA 3870 requires that all stock-based awards granted to non-employees must be accounted for at fair value. The new
standard also encourages, but does not require, the use of the fair value method for all stock-based compensation paid
to employees. Specifically, the fair value method does not have to be applied to option plans where the only choice is
for the employee to pay the exercise price and obtain stock.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(TABULAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

The Company has elected to continue accounting for stock options as capital transactions and to disclose pro forma net
earnings and earnings per share information using the fair value method which is disclosed in note 9.
The adoption of CICA 3870 applies only to stock option awards granted on or after the adoption date. The adoption of
CICA 3870 had no effect on the Company’s reported earnings for the year ended March 31, 2003.
The Company’s contributions to the employee share purchase plan are accounted for in the same manner as the related
employee payroll costs.
(m) Earnings per share: The calculation of earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares issued

and outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings available to common shareholders by
the weighted average shares used in the basic earnings per share calculation plus the number of common shares that
would be issued assuming conversion of all potentially dilutive common shares outstanding using the treasury stock
method.

2. ACQUISITIONS:

During the year ended March 31, 2003, the following companies were acquired: the remaining 49% of outstanding equity
of ATS Test Systems Inc., an advanced test systems business; 100% of the common shares of Magnet GmbH, a German
company that specializes in electrical controls; and 100% of the assets of Micro Precision Plastics Inc., a micro-precision
plastic injection molding company located in Ontario. ATS Test Systems Inc. and Magnet GmbH are included in the
Automation Systems segment and Micro Precision Plastics Inc. is included in the Precision Components segment.
These acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method with the results of the operations being included
from the date of acquisition. The net assets acquired at their assigned values and the consideration given for the acquisitions
are as follows:
Assets acquired

$

11,312

Liabilities assumed

(4,303)

Goodwill

8,695
$

15,704

$

14,704

Consideration:
Cash
Common shares

1,000
$
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During the year ended March 31, 2002, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Omex Inc., a metal forming
company located in Ontario.
The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method with the results of the operations being included from
the date of acquisition. The net assets acquired at their assigned values and the consideration given for the acquisition
are as follows:
Assets acquired

$

5,155

Liabilities assumed

(3,679)

Goodwill

9,394
$

10,870

$

5,317

Consideration:
Cash
Common shares

5,553
$

10,870

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

The contract nature of the Company’s business may result in significant fluctuations from period-to-period in the
relative percentages of accounts receivable and contracts in progress concentrated with any one customer, industry or
geographic region. At March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002, no customer accounted for more than 10% of the combined
balance of accounts receivable and contracts in progress.
The Company generates significant revenues in major foreign currencies, primarily U.S. dollars, which exceed the natural
hedge provided by purchases of goods and services in those currencies. In order to manage a portion of this net foreign
currency exposure, the Company has entered into foreign exchange contracts. The timing and amount of foreign
exchange contracts are estimated based on existing customer contracts on hand or anticipated, current conditions in the
Company’s markets, and the Company’s past experience.
The Company has outstanding forward contracts in various major currencies, primarily U.S. dollars. At March 31, 2003,
the U.S. dollar forward contracts totalled U.S.$82,200,000, maturing on or before March 10, 2004, at rates ranging from
Cdn$1.4708 to Cdn$1.5896 to U.S.$1.00. Based on foreign exchange rates as at March 31, 2003 for contracts with similar
remaining terms to maturity, the unrecognized net gains relating to all the Company’s forward exchange contracts are
approximately Cdn$2,200,000.
In addition, the Company enters forward contracts to hedge the foreign exchange risk arising from certain intercompany
loans. Any gains and losses on these contracts are recognized immediately.
The carrying amounts reported on the balance sheets for cash and short-term investments, accounts receivable, contracts
in progress, bank indebtedness and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values, due to the
short-term nature of those instruments.
The carrying value of long-term debt approximates fair value since the effective interest rates reflect current market rates.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(TABULAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

4. CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS AND INVENTORIES:

2003

at March 31

2002

Contracts in progress:
Costs incurred on contracts in progress

$

Estimated earnings

360,429

$

103,678

Progress billings
$

345,484
102,355

464,107

447,839

(382,146)

(356,000)

81,961

$

91,839

96,546

$

104,320

Disclosed as:
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress

$

Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress

(14,585)

(12,481)

$

81,961

$

91,839

$

26,572

$

22,576

Inventories are summarized as follows:
Raw materials to be used in manufacturing
Work in process

33,140

30,541

Finished goods available for sale

23,387

7,595

$

83,099

$

60,712

5. FIXED ASSETS:
at March 31

Cost
Land and land improvements

$

Buildings

$

84,687

Leasehold improvements
Production equipment
Other equipment and furniture
$
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27,680

Accumulated
depreciation
—

$

14,987

2003

2002

Net book
value

Net book
value

27,680

$

69,700

25,116
66,617

5,679

3,120

2,559

3,974

200,974

87,302

113,672

102,691

32,299

19,355

12,944

13,611

351,319

$

124,764

$

226,555

$

212,009
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS:

During the year ended March 31, 2003, the Company purchased $314,000 of intangible assets (2002 – $844,000) and
recorded $649,000 of amortization (2002 – $620,000) on the intangible assets. As of March 31, 2003, the total accumulated
amortization on the intangible assets was $2,808,000 (2002 – $2,159,000).

7. OTHER ASSETS:

2003

at March 31

Deferred pre-production costs

$

Deferred development costs

3,000

2002
$

21,441

Notes receivable
Long-term investments
$

1,467
16,110

63

460

4,803

9,410

29,307

$

27,447

During the year ended March 31, 2003, the Company deferred $7,218,000 of development costs (2002 – $11,206,000) and
recorded amortization on deferred development costs of $1,961,000 (2002 – $1,071,000).

8. BANK INDEBTEDNESS AND LONG-TERM DEBT:

2003

at March 31

2002

Unsecured revolving bank credit facility available in Cdn$, or equivalent in other currencies,
with interest at bank prime rate, or at rates tied to LIBOR, or bankers’ acceptances, at the
Company’s option. This credit facility revolves until September 20 annually at which time it
is expected that the term will be extended for a further one-year period. In the event the
revolving period of the credit facility is not extended, the loan is repayable over a seven-year
period in 60 equal instalments over the last five years of the period. The amounts are
repayable in U.S. funds of U.S.$33,800,000 (2002 – U.S.$33,800,000).

$

Current portion

49,754

$

—
$

49,754

53,860
—

$

53,860

Interest paid in cash during the year totalled $1,250,000 (2002 – $2,472,000).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(TABULAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

9. SHARE CAPITAL:

2003

at March 31

2002

Common shares
Authorized:
Unlimited shares
Issued:
60,570,685 shares (2002 – 60,318,725 shares)

$

331,499

$

329,660

During the year ended March 31, 2003; 84,674 common shares were issued as partial consideration in the purchase of
the remaining 49% of ATS Test Systems Inc. During the year ended March 31, 2002; 222,097 common shares were issued
as a partial consideration of the purchase of Omex Inc.
During the year ended March 31, 2002, the Company implemented an employee share purchase plan that replaced a
previous plan. Under the terms of the plan, qualifying employees of the Company may set aside funds through payroll
deductions for an amount up to a maximum of 10% of their salary. Subject to the member not making withdrawals from
the new plan, the Company makes contributions to the new plan equal to 20% of a member’s contribution to the plan
during the year, up to a maximum of 1% of each member’s salary.
Shares for the plan may be issued from treasury or purchased in the market as determined by the Company’s Board of
Directors. During the years ended March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002, no shares were issued from treasury related to
the plan.
The Company uses a stock option plan to attract and retain key employees, officers and directors. The shareholders have
approved a maximum 5,550,569 common shares for issuance under the stock option plan, with the maximum reserved
for issuance to any one person at 5% of the common shares outstanding at the time of the grant. Stock options vest over
two, four or five year periods. The stock option exercise price is the price of the Company’s common shares on the
Toronto Stock Exchange at closing for the day prior to the date of the grant. Options granted under the plan may be
exercised during a period not exceeding ten years from the date of grant, subject to earlier termination upon the optionee
ceasing to be a director, officer or employee of the Company. Options issued under the plan are non-transferable. Any
option granted which is cancelled or terminated for any reason prior to exercise is returned to the pool and becomes
available for future stock option grants. As at March 31, 2003, there were 1,596,371 common shares remaining for future
option grants.
2003

2002

Weighted
average
exercise price

Weighted
average
exercise price

years ended March 31

Shares
Stock options outstanding, beginning of the year
Granted

2,182,180

$

471,495

Shares

14.70

2,047,602

18.61

384,480

$

13.41
21.53

Exercised

(167,286)

5.00

(73,313)

10.78

Forfeited

(65,288)

18.34

(176,589)

16.30

Stock options outstanding, end of year

2,421,101

$

16.03

2,182,180

$

14.70

Stock options exercisable, end of year

1,397,061

$

13.04

1,341,558

$

10.79
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Options Outstanding

at March 31, 2003

Range of
exercise prices
$2 to 5
$6 to 10
$11 to 20
$21 to 28.75
$2.00 to 28.75

Number
outstanding
at March 31,
2003

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual life

198,240

1.37 years

Options Exercisable
Number
exercisable
at March 31,
2003

Weighted
average
exercise price
$

2.36

198,240

Weighted
average
exercise price
$

2.36

258,530

2.95 years

6.77

258,530

6.77

1,050,331

6.86 years

14.47

500,615

11.15

914,000

6.87 years

23.41

439,676

23.68

2,421,101

6.00 years

16.03

1,397,061

$

$

13.04

The following pro forma disclosures present the compensation cost for the Company’s stock option plan based on fair
market value at the grant date of the options awarded on or after April 1, 2002 had compensation cost been determined
and recorded in the statement of earnings and earnings per share:
Basic
earnings
per share

Net earnings

year ended March 31, 2003

Diluted
earnings
per share

As reported

$

2,343

$

0.04

$

0.04

Pro forma

$

1,498

$

0.02

$

0.02

In the pro forma results above, the fair values of the Company’s stock option grants were estimated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 5.4%; dividend yield of 0%;
expected lives of 6.0 years; and volatility of 42%. The total estimated compensation cost related to the 471,495 options
granted during the year ended March 31, 2003 is amortized over the five-year vesting period of the options. During the
year ended March 31, 2003; 7,500 of the options granted in the year were cancelled.

10. CUMULATIVE TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT:

The cumulative translation adjustment balance reflects unrealized translation adjustments arising on the translation of
foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign operations. These translation adjustments
are realized in earnings when there is a reduction in the Company’s investment in the respective foreign operation. The
decrease in the cumulative translation adjustment during the year resulted primarily from the weakening of the
U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar, which was partially offset by the strengthening of the Euro and the Swiss franc
against the Canadian dollar.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(TABULAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

11. INCOME TAXES:

Income tax expense differs from the amounts which would be obtained by applying the combined Canadian basic federal
and provincial income tax rate to earnings before income taxes and non-controlling interest. These differences result
from the following items:
2003

years ended March 31

Earnings before income taxes and non-controlling interest

$

6,339

2002
$

19,454

Combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate

38.10%

41.23%

Income taxes based on combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate

2,415

8,021

(1,125)

(2,016)

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Manufacturing and processing allowance
Losses of foreign subsidiaries
Losses for which an income tax benefit has not been recognized
Adjustment to future income taxes for substantively enacted changes in Canadian income tax rates
Other items

421

547

1,813

1,022

(200)

(203)

278

(872)

$

3,602

$

6,499

$

4,139

$

2,843

Provision for income taxes:
Current
Future

(537)
$

3,602

3,656
$

6,499

Future income taxes are provided for temporary differences. Future income tax assets and liabilities are comprised of
the following:
2003

at March 31

2002

Future income tax assets:
Loss carry forwards, share issue costs, and other

$

Less valuation allowance
Future income tax assets, net

13,363

$

(3,373)
$

11,952
(2,815)

9,990

$

8,367

$

9,137

Future income tax liabilities:
Fixed assets

$

Accounting income not currently taxable
Other
Total future income tax liabilities

$

Future income tax liability, net

$

Less current portion of future income tax liabilities
Long-term future income tax liabilities

Income taxes paid in cash during the year totalled $8,445,000 (2002 – $7,913,000).
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7,879

4,860

37,935

$

27,945

$

22,128
$

8,558

21,689

5,817

38,788
29,651
27,455

$

2,196
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12. COMMITMENTS:

The minimum operating lease payments required in each of the next five years are as follows:
Year
2004

Amount
$

6,218

2005

4,221

2006

1,969

2007

1,064

2008

452

Thereafter

146

In accordance with industry practice, the Company is liable to the customer for obligations relating to contract completion
and timely delivery. In the normal conduct of its operations, the Company may provide bank guarantees as security for
advances received from customers pending delivery and contract performance. At March 31, 2003, the total value of
outstanding bank guarantees to customers was approximately $13,600,000 (2002 – $10,000,000).

13. GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE:

During the year ended March 31, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with Technology Partnerships Canada
(“TPC”) which provides funding of up to $29,500,000 as a contribution towards the Company’s development of a new
photovoltaic energy technology, Spheral Solar™ Technology. During the year, TPC funding of $5,100,000 has been
applied to reduce the deferred development expenses and capital expenditures incurred related to the Spheral Solar™
Technology project.
As consideration for the TPC funding, the Company is required to pay royalties on future Spheral Solar™ Technology
revenues.

14. WRITE DOWN FOR IMPAIRMENT:

The Company regularly reviews its portfolio investments to determine if there has been a permanent impairment in
value. As a result of this review, certain of the Company’s portfolio investments were written down in the year ended
March 31, 2003 by $4,760,000 and no income tax benefit was recorded on this write down.
The Company also regularly reviews the net recoverable amount of its fixed assets. As a result of this review, certain of
the Company’s fixed assets were written down to their estimated net recoverable amount. The amount of the write down
was $1,200,000 before income taxes and $804,000 after income taxes.

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE:

Weighted average common shares used in the computation of basic earnings per share were 60,492,009 and 60,261,432
in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The shares used in the computation of diluted earnings per share were 60,938,029 and
61,023,411 in 2003 and 2002, respectively. All of the dilution is caused by the effect of stock options outstanding.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(TABULAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

16. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE:

The Company evaluates performance based on three reportable segments: Automation Systems, Precision Components
and Solar. The Automation Systems segment produces custom-engineered, turn-key automated manufacturing and test
systems. The Precision Components segment is a high-volume manufacturer of plastic and metal components and
subassemblies. The Solar segment is a high-volume manufacturer of photovoltaic products and includes the Company’s
investment in Spheral Solar™ Technology.
The Company accounts for inter-segment revenue at current market rates, negotiated between the segments.
2003
Automation
Systems
Revenue

$

Inter-segment revenue

425,727

Precision
Components
$

(14,463)

125,031

Solar
$

(157)

48,183

Consolidated
$

—

Total Company revenue

$

411,264

$

124,874

$

Operating income

$

17,276

$

2,966

$

48,183
(129)

598,941
(14,620)

$

584,321

$

20,113

Inter-segment operating income

(2,053)

Other expenses

(6,616)

Total Company earnings from operations
Assets

$

425,651

$

132,175

$

99,038

$

11,444

$

656,864

Other Corporate assets not allocated

57,004

Total Company assets
Goodwill, excluding goodwill acquired during the year

$

Goodwill acquired during the year

33,383

$

3,961

19,133

$

4,734

2,510

$

713,868

$

55,026

—

8,695

Total Company goodwill

$

37,344

$

23,867

$

2,510

$

63,721

Acquisition of fixed assets

$

9,820

$

11,914

$

15,670

$

37,404

Corporate acquisitions and other

223

Total Company acquisition of fixed assets
Depreciation and amortization

$

11,129

$

12,920

$

6,816

$

37,627

$

30,865

Inter-segment depreciation and amortization

(129)

Corporate depreciation and amortization
Total Company depreciation and amortization
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2002
Automation
Systems
Revenue

$

Inter-segment revenue

393,739

Precision
Components
$

(8,727)

113,833

Solar
$

(223)

Consolidated

50,925

$

—

558,497
(8,950)

Total Company revenue

$

385,012

$

113,610

$

50,925

$

549,547

Operating income

$

24,468

$

2,119

$

1,140

$

27,727

Inter-segment operating income

(1,308)

Other expenses

(6,812)

Total Company earnings from operations
Assets

$

456,233

$

127,237

$

70,451

$

19,607

$

653,921

Other Corporate assets not allocated

59,271

Total Company assets
Goodwill, excluding goodwill acquired during the year

$

Goodwill acquired during the year

35,347

$

—

10,523

$

9,394

2,710

$

713,192

$

48,580

—

9,394

Total Company goodwill

$

35,347

$

19,917

$

2,710

$

57,974

Acquisition of fixed assets

$

8,731

$

12,737

$

8,183

$

29,651

Corporate acquisitions and other

44

Total Company acquisition of fixed assets
Depreciation and amortization

$

9,560

$

11,999

$

5,608

$

29,695

$

27,167

Inter-segment depreciation and amortization

(88)

Corporate depreciation and amortization

378

Total Company depreciation and amortization

$

Revenue
Canada

$

70,003

27,457

2003

2002

Fixed assets,
goodwill
and intangibles

Fixed assets,
goodwill
and intangibles

$

146,032

Revenue
$

52,653

$

126,470

United States

334,427

78,440

333,431

90,964

Europe

123,838

70,948

110,139

58,042

56,053

3,805

53,324

3,998

Asia-Pacific and Other
Total Company

$

584,321

$

299,225

$

549,547

$

279,474

Geographic segmentation of revenue is determined based on the customer’s installation site. Geographic segmentation
of fixed assets, goodwill and intangibles is determined based on the location of the respective operations.
During the year ended March 31, 2003 and the year ended March 31, 2002, no segment had revenue from one customer
which amounted to 10% or more of Company revenue.
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SIX-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (TABULAR DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

2003

2002

2001

2000

1999

Operating Results
Revenue:
Automation Systems
$
Precision Components
Solar
Elimination of inter-segment revenue

425,727 $
125,031
48,183
(14,620)

393,739 $
113,833
50,925
(8,950)

525,745 $
113,636
42,714
(3,123)

392,296 $
135,576

319,200 $
118,852

(1,358)

(24,484)

(14,485)

Revenue from ongoing operations
Microelectronics contract

$

584,321 $
—

549,547 $
—

678,972 $
—

526,514 $
3,500

413,568 $
101,700

402,920
—

Total revenue

$

584,321 $

549,547 $

678,972 $

530,014 $

515,268 $

402,920

Earnings from operations

$

11,444 $

19,607 $

73,946 $

61,970 $

68,391 $

47,701

2.0%

3.6%

10.9%

11.7%

13.3%

years ended March 31

Operating margin

1998

323,832
93,573

11.8%

Net earnings before unusual items

$

7,907 $

12,593 $

42,957 $

39,222 $

37,612 $

26,242

Net earnings

$

2,343 $

12,593 $

42,957 $

38,264 $

35,213 $

26,242

Financial Position
Working capital

$

275,250 $

297,793 $

305,614 $

209,780 $

169,505 $

147,039

Fixed assets

$

226,555 $

212,009 $

205,733 $

138,445 $

136,162 $

105,352

Total assets

$

713,868 $

713,192 $

708,630 $

550,731 $

495,960 $

434,582

Long-term debt

$

49,754 $

53,860 $

53,279 $

49,396 $

51,814 $

44,009

Shareholders’ equity

$

547,158 $

545,701 $

522,624 $

347,193 $

310,877 $

266,768

Cash Flow
Cash from operations

$

39,242 $

44,068 $

74,643 $

60,802 $

64,618 $

50,659

Net share capital issued

$

839 $

786 $

118,086 $

5,005 $

2,740 $

95,330

Fixed assets purchased

$

37,627 $

29,695 $

82,435 $

25,392 $

54,898 $

57,393

Acquisitions

$

14,704 $

5,317 $

14,711 $

2,421 $

— $

22,021

Per Share Data
Basic earnings per share
before unusual items

$

0.13 $

0.21 $

0.73 $

0.71 $

0.68 $

0.50

Basic earnings per share

$

0.04 $

0.21 $

0.73 $

0.69 $

0.64 $

0.50

Book value per share

$

9.03 $

9.05 $

8.71 $

6.16 $

5.60 $

4.82

Price range – common shares

$ 22.48 – 8.30 $ 29.05 – 12.61 $ 40.10 – 19.25 $ 33.00 – 10.50 $ 25.95 – 9.50 $ 30.13 – 10.20

Basic weighted average shares
outstanding (millions)

60.5

60.3

58.8

55.7

55.4

53.0

Statistics and Ratios
Current ratio

3.50:1

3.75:1

3.43:1

2.44:1

2.33:1

2.24:1

Debt to equity

0.09:1

0.10:1

0.11:1

0.23:1

0.23:1

0.16:1

Return on average assets

1.6%

2.8%

11.7%

11.8%

14.7%

14.2%

Return on average equity

0.4%

2.4%

9.9%

11.6%

12.2%

12.8%

Number of employees, at March 31

3,488

3,187

3,302

Certain amounts for fiscal years 1998 through 2002 have been restated to reflect the adoption of new CICA Recommendations.
Fiscal 2003 includes unusual items which reduced net earnings $5.6 million or $0.09 per share, basic.
Fiscal 2000 includes an unusual item which reduced net earnings $1.0 million or $0.02 per share, basic.
Fiscal 1999 includes unusual items which reduced net earnings $2.4 million or $0.04 per share, basic.
Prior to fiscal 2001, solar revenue is included in the Precision Components segment.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Richard H. Campbell, age 67
York Village, Maine
President, Seacoast Consulting
A graduate of Colby College and the Executive Management Program at
The Wharton School, Mr. Campbell is President of Seacoast Consulting, a
private U.S. business consulting firm. First elected a Director of ATS in 1995,
Mr. Campbell is a member of the Audit and Finance Committee of the Board.
During his four decades of business experience, he has held senior executive
positions at The Textron Corporation, Black & Decker Corporation and Emhart
Corporation. He now serves as a Director of three companies.
Robert A. Ferchat, F.C.A., age 68
Mississauga, Ontario
Corporate Director

P R O D U C E D B Y: F U N D A M E N TA L C O M M U N I C AT I O N S

D E S I G N : B R YA N M I L L S G R O U P

W W W . B R YA N M I L L S . C O M

P R I N T E D O N R E C Y C L E D PA P E R

Mr. Ferchat’s 30 years of business experience include serving as Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of BCE Mobile Communications Inc., Chairman, President
and C.E.O. of TMI Communications, and President of Northern Telecom Canada.
He was first elected a Director of ATS in 1997. He serves on the Audit and Finance
Committee, and the Human Resources Committee of the Board. Mr. Ferchat is a
Director of four companies.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Corporate Headquarters
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc.
250 Royal Oak Road
Box 32100, Preston Centre
Cambridge, Ontario
Canada N3H 5M2
Tel: (519) 653-6500
Fax: (519) 653-6533
Web site: www.atsautomation.com

Stock Exchange Listing
Toronto Stock Exchange “ATA”

Registrar and Transfer Agent

A graduate of Wilfrid Laurier University and a Chartered Accountant,
Mr. Jutras joined ATS in 1985 as Secretary-Treasurer and Chief Financial
Officer. Prior to joining ATS, he served for seven years at KPMG Peat Marwick
Thorne as an accountant and business advisor. He was first elected a Director
of ATS in 1993.

Computershare Trust Company of
Canada
100 University Avenue, 9th Floor
Toronto, Ontario
M5J 2Y1
Web site: www.computershare.com
Shareholders email communications:
caregistryinfo@computer.com
Tel: 1-800-564-6253
Fax: 1-888-453-0330

Robert W. Luba F.C.A., age 61
Toronto, Ontario
President, Luba Financial

Auditors

Ron Jutras, C.A., age 47
Waterloo, Ontario
Secretary, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
ATS Automation Tooling Systems

A graduate of the University of Western Ontario, Mr. Luba is President and
founder of Luba Financial, a mid-market merchant bank. Previously, he was
President and Chief Executive Officer of Royal Bank Investment Management
Inc., President of Crown Life Insurance Company, and held executive positions
at John Labatt Limited. Mr. Luba was first elected a Director of ATS in 1995.
He serves on the Audit and Finance Committee, the Human Resources
Committee and the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee of the
Board. Mr. Luba is a Director of eight companies.

KPMG LLP

Lawrence G. Tapp, age 65
Langley, British Columbia
Corporate Director

4:00 p.m. Eastern Time
September 18, 2003
K.E. Hunter Recreation Centre
Conestoga College
299 Doon Valley Drive
Kitchener, Ontario, Canada

Mr. Tapp is a graduate of McMaster University and the University of Kansas.
From 1995 through 2003, he has served as Dean of the Richard Ivey School of
Business at the University of Western Ontario. Previously, he held senior
executive positions at Lawson Mardon Group and Hallmark Cards. He has
served as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of ATS since 1992 and sits on
the Company’s Audit and Finance Committee, Human Resources Committee
and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee. He is a Director of
seven companies.
Robert C. Tivy, age 79
Sapphire Lakes, North Carolina
Corporate Director
Mr. Tivy is an honours graduate of Queen’s University and the American
Management Institute in New York City. His over 40 years of business
experience include holding senior executive positions with General Telephone
and Black & Decker and as corporate director and consultant. He was first
elected Director to ATS in 1992 and serves on the Human Resources
Committee and the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.
Klaus D. Woerner, age 64
Waterloo, Ontario
President and Chief Executive Officer
ATS Automation Tooling Systems
After completing technical trade apprenticeships in Germany and
Switzerland, Mr. Woerner completed his industrial engineering training at
what is now Ryerson Polytechnical University in Toronto. After graduation in
1970, he became a Process Engineer in the Truck Division of Ford Motor Co.,
and in 1974 became Engineering Supervisor at Electrohome in Kitchener,
Ontario. He founded ATS in 1978 and was named Canada’s Entrepreneur of
the Year in 1997 in a national competition sponsored by Ernst & Young.

Principal Bank
The Bank of Nova Scotia

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

Investor Relations
Contact Cheryl Vandervalk
Investor Relations Co-ordinator
Tel: (519) 653-6500
Fax: (519) 653-6533
Email: investor@atsautomation.com

Corporate Documents
Quarterly news releases and annual
reports as well as other informative
corporate documents can be found on
our website, www.atsautomation.com
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ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. is the industry’s
leading designer and producer of turn-key automated manufacturing
and test systems that are employed by multinational customers
around the world to reduce costs, improve quality, accelerate
throughput and efficiency and enable production of sophisticated
new products.ATS is also a leading global supplier of high-volume
precision components, subassemblies, thermal products, solar
energy cells and modules that are produced using our advanced
process knowledge and automation technologies.ATS employs
approximately 3,500 people at 26 facilities in Canada, the United
States, Europe and Asia-Pacific.

CLICK HERE

Powerful features, fast
changeovers trademarks of
new ATS Programmable
Needle Winder technology

ATS wins multiple automation
systems contracts with major
automotive components
company

Assembly Magazine
“Manufacturing in the
21st century”

ATS enters into five-year
contract equipment
manufacturing agreement
with BOC
> More technology updates

> More news

> More coverage

ATS Annual Meeting of
Shareholders
Thursday September 18, 2003
4 pm Eastern Time
K.E. Hunter Recreation Centre
Conestoga College
Kitchener, Ontario
Assembly Technology Expo
September 23-25, 2003
Rosemont, Illinois
Motek
September 23-26, 2003
Sinsheim, Germany

atsautomation.com

